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ASSEHBLYMAN C. 'RICHA.RD KAMIN (Vice-Chai:rman): I 

apologize for the meeting not starting quite on time. I would 

like to say good after::noon, and thanks to all of you for 

coming. Some of you may know by now that Assemblyman 

Frelinghuysen is recuperating from back surgery and will not be 

attending today's meeting. I spoke to him on Monday night, and 

indirectly today. He asked me to extend his best wishes to th~ 

Committee and to our guests who are testifying today. He 

should be back in action early next year. In the meantime, I 

will be chairing today's meeting· as we continue to take a 

closer look at the bonding practices of the New Jersey Sports. 

and Exposition Authority, and State go~ernment in general. 

During our last meeting on October 15,. former Sports 

Authority Chairman Peter Levine provided this Committee with 

some compelling and eye-opening testimony about the involvement 

of the Governor's Office in the day-to-day affairs of the 

Sports Authority. In his sworn testimony, Mr. Levine said 

there was, "Daily and consistent" pardon me, "daily and 

constant interference," from the Governor's Office, 

specifically from Governor Florio' s former Chief· of Staff and 

the former Chief Counsel. 

Mr. Levine also testified that this constant 

interference negatively impacted on the independent Authority's 

decision-making process. Mr. Levine• s testimony was 

particularly troubling because it directly contradicted claims 

by Governor Florio and members of his administration that the 

Governor's Office had no direct involvement in the awarding of 

contracts to ·bond underwriters. While Mr. Levine's testimony 

was informative and enlightening in many respects, it also left 

many unanswered questions. In fact, it also-- Mr. Levine 

suggested numerous times during the last hearing that some of 

our questions could best be answered by the Chief Executive 

Officer and the Chair~an of the Sports Authority . 
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Some members of· the. media in the State House, 

observers who thought these- hearings were politically'· -- were 

purely political, probably expected these hearings to cease as 

soon as the gubernatorial ·election was over. But now that" a 

new administration is prepared to take the reins of State 

government, it is even more essential for this Committee to 

continue its investigations into State bonding practices. 

New Jersey did not become a target of State and 

Federal investigations because it was handling its bond work 

properly. It is obvious that something may have been seriously 

wrong c with the w,ay State government was conducting its 

bonding. our goal, therefore, as it has been sinte day one of 

these he~rings, is to find out what went wrong and how it can 

be corrected. 

These . Cammi ttee hearings were never intended to be a 

political witch-hunt, and they will not degenerate into a 

witch-hunt in the coming months. Let's work together to clean 

up the New Jersey bonding ·practices and restore our State's 

reputation .as a good and fair place to do business. All of us 

sitting here today ~ant to do what is best for the State of New 

Jersey, now and in the future. We can seize this opportunity 

to learn from the mistakes of the past and begin moving forward 

in a more pqsitive direction. 

In our quest to obtain more detailed information about 

the Sports Authority's bonding practices and the roles of the 

executive branch in its decision-making process, we ha~e asked 

the Chief Executive Officer of the Sports Authority, Robert 

Mulcahy, and the Chairman of the Authority, Mr. Jerome Goodman, 

to appear before this Committee today. Gentlemen, on behalf of 

this Committee and Chairman Frelinghuysen, I welcome you, and 

thank you for being here today. 

Before we go to your opening remarks or your comments, 

I do have to do some housekeeping and go through a series of 

questions for the witnesses to take to appear under oath. 
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~- First of all, for you, Mr. Mulcahy, did you receive a 

subpo~na from this Committee compelling your attendance at this 

. ~earing today? 

R 0 B E R T E. MULCAHY III: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you understand that : the 

_Chairman of the Committee has the authority to administer an 

oath or an affirmative to a witness in any matter now pending 

before this Committee? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes . 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Have you received a copy of the 

Code of Fair Procedure here today before testifying before this 

Committee? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: The Code of Fair Procedure gives 

you certain rights as a witness testifying under oath hete 

today before this Cammi ttee. For example, you have the right 

to be accompanied by counsel who may wish t~ advise you of your 

rights during the proceedings. Do you have counsel present 

here today? 

MR. MULCAHY: No, I do not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you agree to testify here today 

without having counsel present with you? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Under the Code of Fair Procedure 

you also have the right at the conclusion of your examination 

by this Committee to file a brief sworn statement relevant to 

your testimony for incorporation in the record of this 

investigatory-proceeding. You are advised that we are making a 

tape recording of this proceeding. You are entitled to receive 

a copy of your testimony at your own expense. You also have 

the right to request a copy of the resolution authorizing this 

investigation. 

Do you have any questions concerning the Code of Fair 

Procedure or your rights under the law? 
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MR. MULCAHY: No, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you have any questions about 

the proceedings today? 

MR. MULCAHY: No, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Okay. May I ask you to raise your 

right hand while I administer the oath? Do you solemnly swear 

that the testimony you shall give in the matters now pending 

before this Committee shall ·be the truth, the whole truth, and 

nothing but the truth, so help you God? 

MR. MULCAHY: I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Mr~ Goodman, to you welcome as well~ I must ask you 

the same series of questions. Did you receive a subpoena from 

this Committee compelling your attendance at this hearing today? 

J E R 0 ME s. G 0 0 D MAR: No, I did not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: The Code of Fair Procedure gives 

you-- I'm sorry. Do you understand that the Chairman of this 

Committee has the authority to administer an oath or an 

affirmative to a witness in any matter now pending befbre this 

Committee? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Have you received a copy of the 

Code of Fair Procedure here today before testifying before this 

Committee? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBJ,.YMAN KAMIN: The Code of Fair Procedure gives 

you certain rights as a witness testifying under oath here 

today before -this Committee. For example, you have the rig.ht 

to be accompanied by counsel who may advise you of your rights 

during the proceeding. Do you have counsel pr$sent here today? 

MR. GOODMAN: I do not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you agree to testify here today 

without having counsel present before you? 

MR. GOODMAN: I do. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Under the Code of Fair Procedure 

you also have the right at the conclusion of your examination 

by this Committee to file a brief sworn statement relevant to 

your testimony for incorporation in the record of this 

investig~toty proceeding. You are advised that we are making a 

tape recording of this proceeding, and you are entitled to 

receive a copy of your testimony at your own expense. You also 

have the right to request a copy of the resolution authorizing 

this investigation. 

Do you have any questions concerning the Code of Fair 

Procedure or your rights under the law? 

MR. GOODMAN: N.o, I don't. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you have any questions about 

the proceedings today? 

MR. GOODMAN: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: May I ask you, Mr. Goodman, to 

raise your . right hand? Do you solemnly swear that . the 

testimony you shall give in matters now pending before this 

Committee shall be the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but 

the truth, so help you God? 

MR. GOODMAN: I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Okay. !' m reading something for 

both of you that I forgot my first go-round: Do you understand 

that if the statements you make today are willfully false you 

may be subject to penalties under the law, including monetary· 

penalties and incarceration if . you fail to answer a pertinent 

question or commit perjury, which is the making of a false 

statement under oath in an official proceeding such as this? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you understand this? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. We may now proceed . 
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Gentlemen, again, welcome. Mr.· Mulcahy, if 'you would 

like to read your statement--

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, yes, if you would permit 

,, me a short opening statement. 

I appreciate the opportunity to come before you again 

and, of course. I again appreciate the courtesy of you allowing 

me these opening remarks. ·over the past few years, this 
go 

Committee has taken a rightful interest in the bonding 

practices of this State and of the Sports Authority. You and 

we have truly become partners in public policy and today, for 

the third time since you assumed the Chair, I stand ready to 

answer the Committee··s questions. 

Much was raised at the October hearing of the 

Committee, and I am sure that you have questions pertaining to 

that. But little was said about the bonding of the Spoi;ts 

Authority. Today I am presenting important independent 

research to you that was compiled on our 1992 and 1993 bond 

issues. 

I would like to get right to the numbers. I have 

provided the -Committee with a thoroughly researched analysis of 

the cost efficiency of the three major Sports Authority bond 

issues of 1992. Securities Data Company tracks all issues 

nationally. Here is the positi~e result we achieved; in fact, 

the extraordinary positive result we have achieved. 

By careful cost oversight, the Sports and Exposition 

Authority saved $2.25 million iri fees comp~red to the national 

average of similar bond issues. We have a chart attached to 

our testimony labeled the "1992 Sports Authority Gross 

Spreads." That is attached to my testimony. I want to state, 

again, that this information was compiled by the Independent 

Securities Data Company. 

First, for the 1992 Series A Sports Complex 

refinancing, when compared to Stadium/Theater/Convention Center 

issues nationally, the Authority's spread -- or issuance costs 
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-- were $725,760 less than the national average. Fully 33 

national issues had higher spreads and 12 had lower. 

For the Atlantic City Luxury Tax bonds, the savings 

below the national average were $725,868. An incredible 29 out 

of 33 such issues had higher spreads. Finally, the Convention 

Center Series C bonds sa~ed $802,162 off the national average, 

as 125 out of 144 such issues had higher spreads. 

I would like to relate that to the history of the 

Authority and bond issues we had in 1978 and 1985. In 1978, we 

had about $377 million worth of bond issues: One was a $76 

million senior lien issue, the other was almost $300 million. 

Those spreads were $15.75 and $11.09. 

In 1985, when we had a $107 million subordinated issue 

and a $175 million State guarantee refunding, those spreads 

were $19.82 and $12.79. That compares against the $10.051 

$7. 35, and $8. 99 that you see on the issues that we talked 

about here. 

These costs are not politics. This financing is good 

public policy; it is prudent financial stewardship; and it is a 

solid fiscal winner that is providing lasting benefits around 

the State for a generation to come. 

The bond issues of the Sports and Exposition 

Authority, beginning with the Series A debt refinancing which 

we discussed before you in March of 1992, achieved four clear 

objectives: 

. 1) Cost effectiveness. 

2) Savings of millions of public dollars. 

3) · Fulfilling the legislative mandate to the 

Authority. 

4) Having a continuing positive impact on the psyche 

and economy of New Jersey for a generation to come. 

Outstanding work by the Sports Autho~ity's Legal 

Committee and financial advisers kept our issuance costs down. 

This Committee has the full details of those numbers from our 
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-- , ·prior appearances, in addition to the nationwide numbers -I have 

provided for you today. For the public and the Authority, 

present v a 1 u e _savings f r om the . refinancing of $ 3 7 mi 11 ion and 

long-term savings of · $140 million are being achieved. I was 

deeply gra!=ified by the strong public words of support from 

members of this Committee, from both sides of the aisle, over 

the results of that issue. 

The Legislature presented us with a mandate in January 

of 1992, and I believe we are fulfilling it ·in laudable 

fashion. Finally, in the face of a lingerlng dull national 

economy, N.ew Jersey is. investing in its furture through ·the 

Sports Authority in a coordinated effort to prot~ct the 

Authority's finances,- prepare Atlantifc City for the future, 

and allow our State University· to not only improve the quality 

of campus life, but to ma~irnize its potential to create revenue~ 

Ladies and gentlemen of this Committee, I have stated 

to you before, and I feel. even more strongly today, that the 

bond issue refinancing and statewide project development by the 

Authority in the past two years is nothing short of a 

grand-slam home ruri for the people of New Jersey. 

We are again adding excitement, economic impact, 

entertainment, and even a little ego to the State. The tool to 

accomplish and nourish these ~nds was the successful series of 

Sports Authority bond issues know as Series A, ~, and C, which 

provided for the refinancing of high-interest debt, and 

provided the funds for the Atlantic City and Rutgers projects. 

This debt refinancing received broad bipartisan 

legislative sponsorship and support. The financial community, 

as witnessed by the well-document~d cost benefits and excellent 

interest rate terms it supplied, heartily endotsed our handling 

of the issues. Finally, this public policy garnered widespread 

editorial support. The Star-Ledger, for example, called it a 

"g6od deal~ for the Authority, and "an even better deal for New 
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Jersey." 

financial 

taxpayer. 

It did for a very good reason. It made sound 

sense for the Authority, for t h_e St ate , and the 

In May of this year at your Committee budget hearings, 

we reviewed the succes$ful outcomes and tremendous benefits 

that have resulted from the series of bond issues that allowed 

the initial major refinancing. In a stagnant national economy, 

thousands of construction jobs are being created in New 

Brunswick and Atlantic City. From these construction projects 

New Jersey receives economic and quality of life benefits for a 

generation to come. Jobs, economic impact,· excitement, and 

statewide opportunities for growth. are the result of the new 

era of interlinked cooperation among the Sports Authority, the 

Legislature, and the executive branch. 

By working together toward a common goal through the 

Sports Authority, the Legislature and the executive branch are 

delivering savings, stability, jobs, and opportunity to people, 

places, and institutions around the State of New Jersey. 

As an independent. ·State Authority with the State 

Treasurer and Attorney General serving on the Board and the 

Governor having veto power of our minutes, there has been 

direct executive branch involvement in Sports Authority 

financing since day one with Governor Cahill. 

Over the years, the Legislature has gotten more deeply 

involved in the Authority's mission, from the authorization of 

the Monmouth Park purchase through the State Aquarium project, 

and culminating in the 1992 legislation. We now present a 

business plan· to the· Joint Budget Oversight Committee annually 

and are called to budget hearings. The cooperation and 

oversight which now exist among the Authority, the Legislature, 

and the executive branch is certainly not new, but it does 

continue to mature. Clearly, the record shows the enormous 

good that has come through the Authority to the people of the 

State in the past three years because of it . 
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As a former elected official, Cabinet offiter, and 

gubernatorial Chief of Staff, I have testified and appeared 

before legislative committees over three different decades. In 

fact, I guess I have become something of a regular befor~ you. 

Yesterday, the Commissioners of the Sports Authority 

approved- the competitive bidding of the refinancing of the 

senior lien bonds of the Authority. This simple transaction 

will net the Authority and the public substantial savings, as 

interest rates have remained low. 

Finally; Mr. Chairman, my public service has taught me 

that the process of cooperation, oversight, and debate of 

public policy between and among the various branches of 

government is an essential dynamic 

possible services to the taxpayer. 

to delivering the best 

I look forward to again 

answering your questions in the respectful manner which bas 

always marked our relationship. 

Thank ·you for allowing me the time to make this 

statement. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Okay, thank you very much for 

being here and for your-remarks. 

Mr. Goodman -- Mr. Chairman? 

MR. GOODMAN: I have no remarks. 

ASSEMBLYMAN l<AMI N : We 11 , we 1 come . I would -like to 

start our questioning perhaps with you, and ask you, Mr. 

Chairman, if you could discuss your role and responsibilities 

as Chairman at the Sports Authority. 

MR. GOODMAN: My role at the Sports Authority was a 

very, very simple one. ·That was to conduct the publit meetings 

at the Sports Authority. That was the only job that was 

mandated to me, and that is the job that I did. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Levine indicated in his 

testimony before us that his role was to establish policy and 

provide leadership for both the daily operations and the 

long-term direction of the Sports Authority. Is your role, in 
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contrast to that, different, and also, would you describe how 

your role is different from that of Mr. Mulcahy's as the CEO? 

MR. GOODMAN: I. don't look at myself, nor have I ever · 

been directed to be, the Sonny Werblin -- okay? . -- of the 

Sports Authority. I don't know. I can't speak for Peter 

Levine, or Peter Levin, with regard to. what he assumed his 

responsibilities to b~, but my responsibilities were very 

clear, as I mentioned to you in my first -- in answer to the 

first question, which was, quite simply, to go conduct the 

me~tings on a regular basis and from time to time report to the 

Chief of Staff with regard to how things were at the Sports 

Authority. 

We have a CEO. I believe the CEO has been here for 

many, many years. He has had much more experience with regard 

to the Sports Authority than I have, much more knowledge.. Bob 

Mulcahy was the gentleman who ran the Sports Authority on a 

day-to-day basis. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: How much of your time, on a weekly 

basis, would be spent, say, in planning or in policy? 

MR. GOODMAN: On a weekly basis? I would say that my 

efforts, or my endeavors, were on a monthly basis. I devoted 

about a half a .day a month to the Sports Authority. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So in contrast to the role that 

the previous Chairman had, where he considered himself to be 

more of a hands-on Chairman, you would not categorize your role 

as Chairman in that way? 

MR. GOODMAN: I have categorized my role as I feel it 

was. Once again, I can't speak for the previous Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMA_N KAMIN: The Governor's Office has been 

quoted as saying, ~They don't do bonds." 

MR. GOODMAN: I didn't hear your--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: That they, meaning the Governor's 

Office "They don't do bonds." In fact, they referred 

questions back in the initial inquiries by the media to other 
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authorities; that it was not the Governor's Office. Yet the 

testimony we heard last month in October was,· in . fact, that 

there was, "Daily interference on bond operations and 

management from the Governor's Chief of Staff, 

Governor's Counsel." 
as well as the 

Mr~ Goodman, may I ask you your relationship with Mr. 

Salema, who, at that time, was Chief ot Staff for the 

administration? What has been your relationship with him over 
the years? 

MR. GOODMAN: My relationship with Joe Salema has been 
a very, very fine relationship. 

Salema's ability, his integrity. 
I have great respect for Mr. 

I trust Joe Salema implicitly. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: He, at one point, worked with you 

at a First People's Financial Corporation in Camden County. Is 
that correct? 

MR~ GOODMAN: That is correct. · 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: While you were the President there? 

MR. GOODMAN: While I was the Chairman, CEO, President. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: In what capacity was he employed .. 
there with you? 

MR. GOODMAN: He was employed there as-- I believe he 

was the Assistant to the President. His specific duties were 
marketing and PR. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Goodman, may I ask you: .How 

did you become~- How were you asked to serve on the Board of 

the Sports Authority? How did that come about? 

MR. GOODMAN: I think that right after 

elected Governor, I think I was approached 

recall by whom -- and asked whether or not I 

participate and/or be a member of the Sports 

think my answer at that time was, "Yes, it is 

me. " They sent ·me down the forms; and once 

packet of forms, · I sent them back and said, 

decline; the forms made it uninteresting 
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was the end of my efforts , o r my response with reg a rd to the 

Sports Authority. 

I guess sometime after Joe Salema became the Chief of 

Staff, I was contacted by Joe and I spoke to him directly. I 

was informed that he was speaking on behalf of the Governor, 

and that the Governor would like me to reconsider and take a 

position on the Sports Authority. I then completed the forms, 

which it took me quite some time to do, and I believe in June 

of 1991, I became a member of the Sports Authority. I believe 

that in either January or February of 1992~ I became the 

Chairman. 

ASSE~BLYMAN KAMIN: You are working well with my 

script. That was my next series of questions, and you have 

covered all of those points. 

Did the former Chief of Staff, Mr. Salema, advise you 

that you. were becoming Chairman. prior to your even becoming a 

member of the Commission? 

MR. GOODMAN: Well, I wouldn't put it that way. I 

would say that the former Chief of that when I had my 

original discussion with the Chief of Staff about accepting the 

position, I sort of told him that it was a long trip for me to 

come from Cherry Hill or Longport, and that if it were 

possible, that I had the desire to be the Chairman. While he 

did not make a commitment, he told me that it was something he 

thought was possible in the future. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: And that conversation took place 

prior to your becoming a Commissioner? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: When Mr. Levine was removed as 

Chairman, there were some Sports Authority officials 

although nameless -- who were quoted in the press as saying 

that the administration wanted to call the shots. Mr. Levine 

said essentially the same thing to us in his testimony before 
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this Committee, and presumed that that was why he was no longer 
Chairman. 

Mr. Mulcahy, may I ask you: 

involvement of the Governor's Office 

business constitute interference, in yout 

your integrity, as stated by Mr. ·Levine? 

Did the 

in the 

level of 

Authority's 

view, and jeopardize 

MR. MULCAHY: First of all~ I would say that from the 

time I have been there~ there wa~ never a major policy decision 

that we made that . did not -- or was not discussed with the 

Governor's Office as a matter of course. I just think that is 

good policy. The Governor has the power to veto the minutes. 

The role of or the level of contact, I think, 

varied depending on who was the Chief of Staff or who was the 

Governor's Counsel and what role they played. I go back to the 

days beginning when I first went ·up there, when Harold Hodes 

was Chief of Staff. Then we went to Greg Stevens, Cary 

Edwards, and Steve Perskie, Joe Salema, and Bob DeCotiis. 

Generally, I would discuss any ~ajor issues that were 

on an agenda with the Governor's Counsel before a meeting. 

Othe.r than calls that may be sporadic, I didn't have daily 

calls that related to the policy of the Sports Authority. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Would you regard them as 
interference? 

MR. MULCAHY: Whenever you have two people who may 

think that somehow there- may be a better way to get things 

done-- There, on occasion, were times when I would suggest 

that perhaps it would be better to do something another way, 

and frequently it was listened to. It was not~- I would 

characterize it more of tha·t kind of a relationship, than I 
would anything else. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Well, as you know, the testimony 

before us by Mr. Levine was much more emphati~ .. 

Mr. Goodman, in your opinion, why do you feel you were 

chosen and did, in fact, replace Mr. Levine at that time? 
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MR. GOODMAN: I don't have any idea. 

ASSEMBLYMAN l<AMI.N: Mr. Goodman, when you were 

appointed as Chairman~ Mr. Salema said you were.going tci be a 

"roll up your sleeves and analyze the Authority's structure" 

kind of Ch~irman. He meant, "We are going to wait for him" -­

referring to you -- "to tell us wh~t needs to be done~"· 

Could you share with us some of those -- perhaps what 

type of an analysis and restructuring was done, and what you, 

in fact, recommended to Mr. Salema, to the Board, and to the 

Executive Committee? 

MR. GOODMAN: I did not make very many, if any, 

recommendations to the Board of the Executive Committee because 

I wasn't asked okay? ,.._ to make any recommendat~ions to the 

Board or the Executive Committee. While Joe Salema may have 

made that statement, . and maybe that was his . intention at the 

time of my appointment, it appeared to me that those feelings 

sort of dissipated as time went on. In other words, I was not 

asked -- okay? -- to do the things that you mentioned in your 

question. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Well, the contrast here is that 

the public statements by Mr. Salema were leading to1 I guess, 

justification for the change and he laid out an agenda on 

behalf of the administration, but yet that was not the course 

of action that--

MR. GOODMAN: The course of action that was taken was 

that on a monthly basis I either reported directly to Joe 

Salema or to Counsel, to the Governor, on what I believed the 

status of the-Spotts Authority was with regard to its financial. 

condition, or any other question they may have asked me. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Would you comment on, perhaps at. 

the time of the transition between Chairman Levine's tenure and 

yours, the discussion~ that took place publicly, especially 

about the role of the Sports and Expedition Authority in the 

solicitation of vendors and the public comments by the previous· 
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Chairman? What -were your thoughts as a member of the 

Commission before becoming Chairman, and then perhaps contrast 

that with your role as Chairman? 

MR. GOODMAN: You' 11 have to clarify for me a little 

bit, because I don't know what the comments of the previous 

Chairman were with regard to vendors. 

·ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Were you aware of any of the 

printed public accounts and the remarks made by Chairman Levine 

at the time? 

MR. GOODMAN: Unfortunately, the news as it is written 

in the North about the Meadowlands is not written in the 

South. There are very few articles that appear in The Courier 

·Post and/or The Philadelphia Inquirer, including the New Jersey 

section. 

I don't know. If yQu.want to be spe6ific I would·b~ 

happy to comment, but I do not have a great deal of knowledge, 

other than the fact that ·Peter Levine may have said it was 

iriappropriate to solicit vendors. I don't know. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ~IN: So you had no knowledge no 

direct knowledge of his concerns either from ~eading press 

accounts at home or from actually serving as a member of the 

Commission. any comments he· may have made in public or 

private meetings? 

MR. GOODMAN: 1·ao not recall any of Peter Levine's 

statements in public -- okay? -- at which I was present with 

regard to statements on vendors. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: 'Well, as a Board member, Mr. 

Chairman, tha~ answer surprises me. 

Mr.. Mulcahy, did the administration and its 

involvement in the Authority's management change after Mr~ 

Levin~ was removed as Chairman, in yotir opinion? 

MR. MULCAHY: No, I don't think so. As Chief 

Executive Officer, you have ·a different relationship with each 

Chairman depending on their personality and their interests. 
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My effort was always to have telephone contact with the 

Chairman, if not physical meetings, to review the major things 

that were going on so that they ~ere informed. .Some Chairmen 

would like to attend more events than others; some had more 

interest in coming around than others. Frankly, my 

recollection is that the contact I had during the time that Mr. 

Levine was Chairman and the contact I had after he was Chairman 

was basically the same. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: You don't feel there was any-­

Let me ask you this in a different way: Would you characterize 

any of the communications from the ·administration to you as 

interference or did they in any way jeopardize the integrity of 

your role as the CEO? 

MR. MULCAHY: If I thought something would jeopardize 

my tole, then I would speak up. The best example I. can giv~ 

you is the one that was talked about at great length here last 

. time, when Mr. Levine came to .me and talked about a 

conversation he had relating to a vendor. I called the 

Attorney General and I told Mr. Levine that I was going to do 

that, as I have done at other times in other roles that I have 

had in this government whenever I thought there was something 

that involved the potential for wrongdoing. I called the 

Attorney General. The Attorney General asked me to talk to 

Peter and ask him if he would talk to him. I did. I related 

to the Attorney General -- gave him everything I had relating 

to it, and I had no further involvement in it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: There was never any, again, 

communication· back f tom the Attorney General to you after that 

initial inquiry? 

MR. MULCAHY: Not other than what you heard here last 

time that he -- they had found no cause to go forward. There· 

may have been some ancillary things relating to that, but that 

was the essence of it. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Were there any other members of 

the administration, Mr. Mulcahy, who worked closely with the 

Sports and Exposition Authority, other than the Chief of Staff 

and the Governor's Counsel? 

MR. MULCAHY: The Treasurer's Office, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: The Treasurer's Office? 

MR. MULCAHY: Absolutely. It relates to these bond 
,... 

issues. Cliff Goldman, whom you know, served as our Financial 

Adviser. He drafted . the RFPs. The underwd. ters for each of 

the particular bond issues were given to us through Treasury. 

My role was to make sure that the lead underwriter was 

a qualified investment banker, and that the costs of the bond 

issue were held down and done as cheaply as possible. So I had 

to make sure they were qualified; I had to make sure they were 

done in a cost~conscious manner, and I feel that I did that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Mr. Goodman, was there anyone in the administration 

that you worked with other than Mr. Salema? 

MR. GOODMAN: I believe I had three meetings or so 

with Bob DeCotiis, maybe four meetings. I do not recall the 

exact number. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: But your contact was not with the 

Treasurer's Department? 

MR. GOODMAN: 

Department. That is 

My contact was not with the Treasurer's 

correct. My only contact with the 

Treasurer's Department was when we had our regular meetings and 

the Treasurer ·attended. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

MR. MULCAHY: And I would keep-- When the 

communications came on the bond issues, I would call him and 

tell him what the process was and how we were doing it. But, 

as far as I know, he had no contact. That was the routine, and 

that is how it came through. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: ·Those would be preliminary 

briefings and then ultimately the entire Commission would be 

briefed? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Mr. Gibson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: 

said has raised a question. 

before you were appointed? 

Just something that Mr. Goodman 

You said you wanted to be Chairman 

Is that so? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes .. That was a desire of mine, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Are these salaried positions? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, they are not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Okay. So, to be Chairman-- You 

wanted to be Chairman, I would presume, because you could exert 

some influence, or some of your own direction to the Committee?_ 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: But yet you said, unless I didn't 

hear you correctly, in the beginning that you didn't do 

anything except Chair the meetings. 

MR. GOODMAN: You heard me correctly. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: So if you wanted to be Chairman 

to exer~ some direction, or some good influence you would have, 

and yet you only chair~d the meetings, that doesn't add up. 

MR. GOODMAN: Well, it may not add up to you; it added 

up to me. I had to.be asked .bY somebody in the administration 

to do certain jobs. In other words, ·I am not the CEO; I was 

not an executive officer; I am not an operating officer. I am 

merely the Ch-airman. If somebody asked me to do a job within 

the administration, I would have been more than pleased to do 

it. If I was not asked, I did not do it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Was your role as Chairman a 

disappointment? Did it not turn out the way-you had expected? 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Okay. That answers my question. 

Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Gibson. 

Mr. Watson, and then I will go to Mr. Bagger. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would 

like to ask the CEO, Mr. Mulcahy, these questions: 

Mr. Mulcahy, the Governor has to sign off on your 

minutes. Is that correct? 

MR. MULCAHY: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: The refinancing legislation 

i nvo 1 ved · a commitment of the taxpayers ' funds, which is the 

ultimate responsibility of the Governbr and the Legislature, it 

is not? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, to the degree that they were 

involved in it. Two-thirds of our debt are paid by our own 

revenues, but to the degree that they are, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Thank you. 

Through you, Mr. Chairman, would it be a breach of 

responsibility for the Governor, through his staff, to ignore 

the Sports Authority operatiori and let you do as you please? 

MR. MULCAHY: As I testified earlier, Assemblyman,. I 

never felt that any major policy issue, whether it was Govarnor 

J;Jyrne, Go.vernor Kean, or Governor Florio, went. forth without 

the knowledge of the Governor's Office.· I just felt it was the 

wrong way to do it. Sometimes there would be discussions about 

whether or not it was the best thing to do, and sometimes we 

would revise our position. Sometimes I think Jerry underplayed 

himself a little, but there were times when his business 

knowledge would come in handy. I would talk to him about 

something and he would give me advice on an issue in an effort 

to make it better. I mean, that was the way I saw it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: But it has been a practice for 

the Governors--

MR. MULCAHY: Absolutely, every Governor. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: --to keep a hands-on kind of a 

situation, because--

MR. MULCAHY: The profile of the Sports Authority is 

such that the Governors, all of them, have had an interest in 

it. Some liked some sports, some liked others. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Well, Mr. Mulcahy -- through you, 

Mr. Chairman -~ wouldn't it be particularly so today because we 

are spending taxpayers' money now? 

.MR. MULCAHY: No question about it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Through you, Mr. Chairman--­

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Excuse me, Mr. Watson. Are you 

referring to the $17 million that we now--

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Absolutely, Mr. Chairman, that is 

what I am spe~king about; the moneys that they--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Because.of the refinancing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Yes, absolutely. I am speaking 

of the millions of dollars we are putting into the sports 

Authority now. 

Mr. Mulcahy, so if members of the Governor's key staff 

kept ta~s on and offered suggestions on the operations of the 

Sports Authority, they would, in fact, be doing their job 

correctly, would you not say so? 

MR. MULCAHY: I have no quarrel with that. My role up 

there has always been an open book. We· are subject to 

scrutiny. I always felt that not only would I keep ·them 

informed, but if they wanted to ask me questions, they could. 

ASSEMBLYMAN WATSON: Thank you, Mr. Mulcahy. 

Mr. Chair.man, I may have a few more questions later 

on, but thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Feel free at the appropriate time. 

Mr. Bagger? 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and 

thank you to the witnesses for their· appearance here today. I 

would like to reiterate the Chairman's comments. We are not 
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here today as a Committee to question the success of the Sports 

Authority in New Jersey, which is self-evident, or the 

substantive effectiveness of the 1992 bond refinancing, which I 

have no reason to dispute. 

ws are here today to evaluate the procedures that are 

followed by different State authorities, including the Sports 

Authority, and the issuance of debt, and to look at whether 

there are needs for improvements in State bonding procedures; 

to consider the need .for additional oversight of ·bonding by 

independent authorities to determine whether the 

professionalism of authorities has ·been compromised by 

excessive executive interference. We are looking at these 

things because we are looking to the future and towards making 

recommendations, because, as you are aware, there are a number 

of bills that pertain to bonding whicih are being considered by 

this Committee and chairman· Russo of the State Government 

Committee. 

With that, I would like to ask some fairly specific 

questions about the procedures that were followed in the 

selection of t~e participants in the 1992 refinancing. 

Starting with you, Mr. Goodman, could you tell us, 

with referenc.e to the refinancing which was approved by the 

Board on February 26, 1992, about a month after you were named 

Chairman by the Governor, what role did you yourself play in 

the selection of the 21 underwriters that participated in the 

refinancing? 

MR. GOODMAN: I think you have to be a little more 

specific with:reg~rd to what role I played. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: What did you yourself do? 

MR. GOODMAN: With regard to the selection of those 21 

underwriters? I had no role whatsoever. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: You voted for it, I take it? 

MR. GOODMAN: I voted, that's right; I voted for it. 

We had Financial Adviser Cliff Goldman and group, and the 
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Treasurer· s Office made those recommendations. 

them, yes. 

I voted for 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: The 

you 

recommendations were 

presented to the Board and took part of their 

recommendations. 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: So 

personally did not interview 

I 

or 

take it 

evaluate 

you 

any 

yourself 

of the 

underwriters? 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. We did have executive 

meetings where there were long discussions with regard to 

yield, where there were challenges made to Mr. Goldman having 

to do with timing of the event. I personally happen to believe 

that interest rates were headed down. Mr. Goldman believed, 

and his firm believed, that interest rates were headed up .in 

the short peri6d. As it turned out, we were both right. For 

the short term, interest rates headed up. In the long term, 

they went down. But this was something that had to be done 

then. In hindsight, he and his firm made the correct 

recommendation. That could have been an hour long, or a 

half-hour· long debate between myself and the people who were 

present and representing. the investment-­

and group. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: When you 

Let's say, Goldman 

meeting," do you mean 

Authority--

a meeting· with the 

say, "executive 

executives of the 

MR. GOODMAN: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER : 

executive session? 

.,..-or a meeting of the Board in 

MR. GOODMAN: An executive session of the Board. 

MR. MULCAHY: No, no, it was an Executive Commit tee---

MR. GOODMAN: Excuse me. 

MR. MULCAHY: It was not an executive session. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: A meeting of the Executive 

Committee of the Board. 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, it was not an executive session. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Mr. Mulcahy, could you explain 

for us the process that was followed by the Sports Authority in 

evaluating and selecting the 21 firms that were used as 

underwriters? 
r;-

MR. MULCAHY: The process that was used--.. I think I 

testified to this a year ago, or last spring. I indicated 

earlier that Cliff Goldman did an RFP and had investment houses 

respond to that RFP. The RFP, to the best of my knowledge, was 

reviewed not-only-by Cliff, but by Treasury. We received the 

underwriting syndicate list from Treasury. I personally did 

not participate in the selection of those syndicates. I wanted 

to make sure that the lead underwriter, which is the only one 

that counts in this deal, was qualified. If· you look at the 

-names, there is any one of a half dozen on Wall Street that are 

qualified. In this case, they all were. My role was to make 

sure that we got it done in a cost-conscious fashion. But I 

did not participate in the selection, nor in the process of 

selecting the underwriter syndicates. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Excuse me. If I may, on the RFP, 

were there other professionals -- recommendations for other job 

titles coming from Treasury as well; for example, bond counsel 

or the underwriters' counsel who would work with the 21 firms? 

MR. MULCAHY: The bond counsel-- In the case of the 

bond counsel, I ptetty much insisted that it be Mudge Rose, 

because Bob Ferdun, who has done our work since the 1973 

original Sports Authority concept, is considered one of the 

foremost public finance people in the country. Our bond 

resolutions are fairly complex, and I just didn't ~ant to-- It 

was one thing that I was pretty in~istent upon. He had done it 

for every issue under every administration, Republican or 

Democrat, and I felt this was part of not only doing it right, 

24 



but keeping the costs in line. That is one area where I did 

insist, but I did not play a role in the selection of the 

syndicates. I played a role where I thought we had some 

control. That was the bond counsel who was responsible to us, 

the financial adviser who was responsible to us, Cliff Goldman. 

Then we would make sure that when they submitted costs 

for whoever the underwriters' counsels were, or other things, 

not only was there a clear accounting for their time spent, but 

we made sure there was no duplication. We would look at the 

fees. In many cases, we cut the fees in an effort to keep the 

costs dbwn. That is the role I played in this. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Who selected the firms? Those 

came from Treasury as well? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, outside of Mudge Rose_. They may 

have come from the investment banking houses themselves. i 

don't know. I was not in that process. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Maybe I'm looking at the wrong 

branch of the administration. Mr. Levine indicated in his 

testimony before us that it was advice and -- that it wasn't 

advice and communication; that it was orders coming from the 

administration. 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, with a 11 due respect, I 

heard it, but I don't even remember Peter talking to me about 

those conversations. So, whatever those conversations were 

that he had, they were things that he kept to himself. They 

were not held with me. I can only tell you what my own 

personal experience was. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Before we go back to Mr. Bagger, just one: We refer 

to Treasury. Is there a name specific? 

MR. MUµCAHY: Well, Bob Lurie was generally the lead 

person on the bond sales. He was sort of their key investment 

person who interfaced with us. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So the law firms and some of the 

other~~ That was not your call. That was Bob Lurie's call, or 

someone over there? 

MR. MULCAHY: Or someone. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Mr. Bagger, I apologize. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Mulcahy, I believe you just said that you made 

recommendations on bond counsel and financial adviser, because 

those were areas over which you had some control. 

MR. MULCAHY: I felt so strongly about the quality of 

the people who performed those services that I wanted to make 

sure that we didn't compromise. 

The other ·costs you can control. If you get a New 

York investment banking house of the quality of a Merrill Lynch 

dr a Donaldson, or someone, they are going to do the job. You 

just have to manage what they do. So I felt this was really 

where I could make a contribution and have the control. 

I would like to comment on one point you made, 

Assemblyman, because I think it may be helpful to this 

Committee. We began the process yesterday of refunding the 

senior lien bonds -- I think they are around $69 million -- and 

bonding out the acquisition of the luxury suites that we had a 

five-year balloon loan with the banks, and we are doirig it on a 

bid basis. Those bids are due back next Wednesday. I think it 

will be important for the Committee to review that process when 

they come back, tb see how it relates to the processes in the 

past. I think it may be helpful to· the Committee in evaluating 

thfs. 

The sec~nd note that I would add -- and I think I made 

it when I was here last time, because I believe the Chairman 

picked up on it-- The issue we are in the ~recess of doing is 

a fairly simple issue. On the Series C issue of contract bonds 

in Atlantic City, there is sometimes an opportunity to use a 
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variable rate instrument called a swap. You get the benefit of 

the long-term rate, which is guaranteed, without having to risk 

the weekly changes in interest rate that swaps do. It is a 

very complicated process, but it cut our costs . substantially 

because there was the opportunity to do ft in the market at 

that time. 

That is an issue that would be much more difficult to 

deal with on a straight bid basis, because the timing of 

that-- You have to wait; you have to get ~omebody like an AIG 

or one of these major insurance companies to guarantee the 

rate; and you have to play the market to a point where you 

think you can make the best deal and do it. Now that is not 

one that I think you can bid in the same process. --1 only call 

that to your attention-- I think you raised that, Mr. K~min, 

once before. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: I did. 

MR. MULCAHY: It becomes a complex process, but I 

think that having done that with one of the issues in -Atlantic 

City, and being in the process of bidding this issue next week, 

I think there is some valuable information that this Committee 

can use - in attempting to come to some conclusion as to the 

viability of these processes. 

Obviously, just like everything else, we will be more 

than happy to share those with you and compare the costs. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: We thank you for that. I think 

that will be instructive for us as we move forward. 

If I may, through you, Mr. Chairman, continue on the 

process that ~as used for selecting the participants in the '92 

refinancing, the RFP, I take it, was prepared by Clifford 

Goldman's firm? 

MR. MULCAHY: My recollection is that it was prepared 

by Mr. Goldman, in consultation with Treasury, but I am unclear 

as to how much of a role each played . 
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ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: That was issued and the responses 
came back and went to Treasury? 

MR. MULCAHY: They came back to Treasury, yes. I did 
not participate in the review of those responses, nor in the 

construction of the syndicates. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Nor anyone who re·ports to you on 
the-Authority staff? 

MR . MULCAHY : No, other than Cliff may have 
participated in that. (pause here, as Mr. Mulcahy confers with 

Mr. Goodman) I am reminded that technically the RFPs were 

returned to someone in my office, who then forwarded them. to 
Treasury. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: And that person did no 
independent evaluation? 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't believe he made an. independent 

evaluation. I'm sure he didn't, because he certainly didn't 

select-- There is no one in our place who had a role in the 
selection of the syndicate~ 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: If the Finance Committee of the 
Board did not make that evaluation--

· MR . MULCAHY: Now, the Chairman of the Finance 
Committee of the Board is the State Treasurer, so--

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: What came back from Treasury, 

then, was the entire ~tructure of the underwriting certificate 
syndicate---

MR. MULCAHY: The syndicate, yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: --including levels of 
participation? 

MR. MULCAHY: The levels of participation were not-­

I am unclear who determined the levels of participation, 

whether it was the lead investment banker or Treasury. We 

didn't. I don't want to lead you astray that it was done at 

that time, or by anyone--· You will have to ask somebody else 
who determined that. 
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I do know this: There was a stated policy in an 

effort to in~lude both New Jersey firms and minority firfus in 

those syndicates. That is as far as I can tel 1 you about my 

knowledge of the construction of the syndicates. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Did you, Mr. Mulcahy, have any 

discussions with anyone in the Governor's Office concerning the 

composition of the underwriting syndicate? 

MR. MULCAHY: The only conversation that I ever 

remember about-- There may have been one or two conversations 

in sort of passing in which the Governor's Counsel may have 

indicated to me that one of the firms might be the lead 

underwriter, but it wasn't a question to me as to whether or 

not I approved, disapproved, or something else. In one case, I 

think he may have indicated to me that there may be an 

inclusion of one or two other firms in the syndicate. That is 

the total of the conversations I ever had with the Governor's 

Office about who was in the bond deals. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: As best as you can rec a 11, what · 

did he say, and what firms was he speaking of? 

MR. MULCAHY: I think there was a conversation at one 

point and I am not all that clear on it, and ! don't know 

which of the three major ones on the bond was going to be the 

lead underwriter 

passing. 

one of the major ones -- but it was just in 

I have a vague recollection that at some point there 

was a passing comment that Tri-State was going to be included 

in the syndicate. Those are the only comments that I remember 

conversations on any of this stuff. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: They had not responded to the RFP? 

MR. MULCAHY: I subsequently heard that; I didn't know 

it at the time. Frankly, it didn't mean anything to me at the 

time. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Did the Governor's Chief Counsel, 

in his conversations to you, mention the firm of Lazard Freres? 
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MR. MULCAHY: He could have, but it would only have 

been in passing. I don't remember it any· other way, because, 

frankly, I had very little discussion about the investment 

bankers with him -- hardly any that I recall, and it ·certainly 

didri't !~ave much of an impression, because I couldn't identify 

which one. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: And the discus~ion of Tri-State 

was a request that it be included, or--

MR. MULCAHY: No. It was in passing that they were 

going to be included. They didn't ask me to incltide it, so I 

.·didn't ·put anybody in. You asked me what I can remember, and I 

am telling you what I can remember. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: You mentioned.that the Governor's 

Couns~l made some remark to you about the lead onderwriter. 

MR. MULCAHY: Well, that relates to Lazard . or 

Donaldson or Merrill Lynch. That was the conversation in 

passing. See, it is very vague. You asked me if I ever 

remember a conversation. I believ~ that in passing it came up 

only in the sense that, "So and so is either under 

consideration or may be the lead--" I don't know. It was not, 

"Do you have any input," or anything else. I mean, I was not 

in that role. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Was this a subject that you 

brought up--

MR. MULCAHY: No, I don't think so. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: --or that they brought up? 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't remember bringing it up. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: So then--· 

MR. MULCAHY: But I would-- It could have come up 

this way: ·In the course of going over an agenda for a meeting, 

I would relate that we were going to begin the process to do 

this bond issue. I mean, those were policy issues, ·just like 

all of the other policy issues that I alluded to, that I would 

clear with the Governor's Office. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: But the mentioning of specific 

firms, or who was going to be lead underwriter was brought up 

by the Governor's Counsel? 

MR. MULCAHY: It may have been. If it was, it was in 

an offhand passing way~ It was not any other way. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Mr. Goodman, did you ever discuss 

with anyone in the Governor's Off ice the selection of firms 

that would make. up the underwriting syndic.ate for the 1992 

refinancing? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, I was never asked; never had any 

meetings. No· one from the. Governor's Office ever asked my 

opinion, nor did . they give me any direction with regard to 

investment bankers. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Mr. Mulcahy, when Mr. Levine was 

here you may have heard him. He testified that people in the 

executive branch mad~ it quite clear to him as to which firms 

should participate and how he should vote at the February Board 

meeting. Do you know what he was talking about? 

, MR. MULCAHY: I have no comment to that, because he 

did not convey that to me.· 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER:· Now, you did say, Mr. Mulcahy, 

that the firm to be selected as the lead underwriter was an 

important decision to you, and previously that firm had been 

Merrill Lynch, which had a longstanding relationship with the 

Authority. Why was Merrill Lynch replaced as the primary 

underwriter, and who made that decision? 

MR. MULCAHY: I am not the· person to ask the 

question. I ~ean~ I can't answer you. 

Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Was it you who made that decision? 

MR. MULCAHY: Did I make that decision? No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: How did that--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Do you know who made the decision? 

MR. MULCAHY: I'm not sure who made the decision, Mr. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN 

communicated to you? 

BAGGER: How was that decision 

MR. MULCAHY: Through Treasury, the syndicate or 

indicating, · "Here is the lead underwriter to work with on this 

issue .. " 

.ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: And that lead underwriter .was 
from La~ard Freres? 

MR. MULCAHY: On what? 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: On the refinancing? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: What was your 
learning that news? 

reaction to 

MR. MULCAHY: As long as they were qualified to do the 

job, that was what I was concerned about. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Did you, as the CEO, believe 

there was any reason to replace Merrill Lynch? 

MR.· MULCAHY: Did I believe there was any reason to 

replace-- As far as I was concerned, Merrill Lynch had done a 

first-class job for us. That was my opinion, but it ·was not my 
decision. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Bagger, if I may? 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Please. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: On ·the RFPs and the responses by 

the firms, did you get a chance to see the other main -- other 

underwriters that were in the. hunt for lead underwriter? Did 

you get a chance to see their responses? 

MR. MULCAHY: I did not look at them, no. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Were you aware from cortm\unications 

with Treasury that, in fact, there were other responses that 

were better than Lazard Freres? 

MR. MULCAHY: I assumed there were many responses, but 

I don't know that fact, Mr. Chairman. I was just p.ot in that 
loop. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: You were not aware that there were 

responses that would, in tact, for want of a better term~-

MR. MULCAHY: There could have been three; there could 

have been 10; there could have been 30. I don't know. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: And you don't know the rankings, 

or ..... -

MR. MULCAHY: 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

Treasurer, involved 

underwriter might be, 

lines? 

No. 

KAMIN: No? Good. 

in communicating 

or were there any 

Was Mr. Crane, the 

to you who the lead 

discussions along those 

MR • MULCAHY : No, most of the communications came 

through Mr. Goldman from Treasury, which came to me.e 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Mr. Bagger, go ahead. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: 

may _have a question. 

Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Lance 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Lance, please. I couldn't see 

where the light was. Sorry. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Mulcahy, you stated regarding 

Mr. Ferdun, who is a partner at Mudge Ross--

MR. MULCAHY: Yes? 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: --that you were ·insistent, based 

upo~ his long association with the Sports Authority, that he 

continue as the chief bond counsel. IS that accurate? (no 

respons~) Was there an attempt by anyone to replace Mr. Verdun? 

MR. MULCAHY: The only request we had was that at some 

point the fitm of Giordano be able to do some work. They 

handled the $5 mi Ilion Higher Education Sports Facility Act. 

Other than that, Mr. Ferdun did the work. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: And there · were no other 

suggestions beyond that? 

MR. MULCAHY: No. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Your 

bond counsel, you were insistent 

always been? _ 

position is - that regarding 

that it remain where it had 

MR . MULCAHY: I was concerned that the work on the 

bond issues, because of th~ complexity of what was involved and 

the fact that Mr. Ferdun not only had been"
1 

there, but had 

participated in drafting the legislation -- that we could not 

afford to make a mistake in this, and I felt it was important 

that he be the lead counsel. They worked with other counsels 

on the issue, but there was never any duplication of work. We 

always insisted that we would not pay for duplication. 

ASSEMBLYMAN - LANCE: And therefore, Mr. Mulcahy, there 

is apparently a difference between bond counsel in your mind 

and the chief underwriting firm, Merrill Lynch; whereas, in the 

second situation you were only concerned that whomever was 

chosen be competent. 

MR. MULCAHY: Right. They worked for the underwriting 

firm, not for me. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Therefore, you did not insist. that 

Merrill Lynch remain; whereas, you did insist or at least 

strongly recommend, whatever the phrase might be that Bob 

Ferdun and Munch Rose remain. 

If I might follow up, Mr. Chairman-- Mr. Goodman, did 

you have any responsibilities in these regards relating to 

ret~ntion of Mudge Rose as chief bond counsel and choosing 

Lazard over Merrill Lynch as chief underwriter? 

MR. GOODMAN: I don't understand your question. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I'm trying to draw out the point 

that the Chief Executive Officer, based upon his extensive 

experience at the· Sports Authority, wished that the bond 

counsel remain as it had always beert, but did not insist that 

that be true of the chief underwriter. 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, I understand that. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I would like. you to comment on 

whether you were involved at all ·in the decision to retain 

Mudge Rose, and in particular Mr. Ferdun, as chief bond counsel. 

MR. GOODMAN: I think my involvement was, once again, 

in Executive Committee meeting whereby we had discussions on 

these items. Bob made it very, very clear to us that his 

recommendation for bond counsel would be the Ferdun firm, and 

_gave us the reasons. We all agreed with him. 

With regard to the lead underwriter, I don't have any 

recollection of having a discussion about that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Through you, Mr. Chairman, looking 

to the future, Mr. Mulcahy, do you t~ink the system should be 

·such in the future regarding either bond counsel or chief 

underwriter, or both; that these are decisions that should 

rest, most appropriately, with the Authority itself, and not 

with the Governor's Office or· the Treasurer's Office or some 

combination of the two? 

MR. MULCAHY: Well, the difficulty is that the 

Trea_surer, in coming to a hard and fast rule-- The Treasurer 

sits on our Board as a voting member. The Governor signs the 

minutes. So the reality of ·the decision is that whatever you 

do, you are going to have to do in concert with however they 

want that policy carried out. I suspect every CEO likes as 

much latitude as possible, but the reality of the situation is 

that with a setup like that, you have to make it work. 

ASSEMBLYMAN :t,,ANCE: Yes, sir, but it reaches a point, 

I suppose, where a CEO would be forced to choose to resign if 

he thought he· had not been given appropriate leeway based upon 

his experience. 

MR. MULCAHY: I think my record is such that if I felt 

there was a situation where we were compromising the Authority, 

I would have to--

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: You felt it was more important, as 

a bottom-line matter, to retain the bond counsel based upon 

his, I guess, exclusive experience in this regard? 
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MR . MULCAHY: Well, yes. I felt that between Cliff 

Goldman end Bob Ferdun we could manage any of the recognized 

Wal 1 St reei; houses, bee a use on any given is sue if you manage 

them there, you are going to get the ·work done. - That was 

really the philosophy I had. 

My recollection is -- and I could be wrong on this -­

that it was also the time when Merrill Lynfh either did the 

State or the Turnpike bond sale. That may have had some 

bearing on the issue in terms of how much work they were going 

to do, or get, or what. I only offer that as a comment. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I see. i am not aware, although I 

am sure the staff can research the issue, as to whether it was 

at that time, or during that time frame that Merrill Lynch was 

involved in some other aspect of bonding. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I thank the witnesses, -as 

well. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Russo, you had a question, too? 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Yes. Mr. Mulcahy, to some of the 

questions previously you answered that with regard to selection 

of bond underwriters and bond counsel, to an extent during 

these last several years-- I think you were referring to the 

fact that you weren't in the loop of some of these decisions. 

MR. MULCAHY: In terms of the selection of the 

investment banking syndicate for each of the bond issues, that 

is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Right. Since you have been there 

since the inception, in the Byrne and Kean years and I 

understand th.at the Governor can veto the minutes --- did you 

have more input or more direct control over those decisions? 

MR. MULCAHY: In the Byrne years, the bond issues were 

done before I went there in '79. They were done in '78. My 

recollection is -- and this is only based on conversations with 

him . -- that the Treasurer pretty much determined. Frankly, 
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those happened because Merrill was the only one that could sell 

the original bonds after a couple of investment houses failed. 

In the Kean years, we had two significant issues, I 

think, in '85. I made the recommendation to continue with 

Merrill. My recollection is that there were one or two firms 

that were asked to be included in the syndicate, and we 

included them. But there was a different level of intensity in 

the bonds we sold. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Was there a different level of 

intensity with regard to the input you re~eived from the 

administration during these past three years? 

MJL MULCAHY: There was a different philosophy, I 

think, about how to handle these things. 

more accurate way to express it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Thank you. 

That is probably a 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So, if I may, Mr. Mulcahy, it was 

the choice of the Sports and Expedition Authority for lead 

underwriters in previous administrations? 

MR. MULCAHY: My recollection is that when we did the 

two bond issues that I talked about -- the subordinated issue 

and the State guaranteed refunding in '85 -- at that time Jon 

Hanson was the Chairman. We had a discussion, and I believe I 

suggested that we continue with Merrill. I believe he came 

back and said there were two or . three firms that we ought to 

include in the syndicate, and we did. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: But the choice of lead underwriter 

was yours? 

. MR. MULCAHY: Well, I wouldn't say it was the choice. 

They let me make a recommendation, and that choice was accepted. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So the actual choice o·f lead 

underwriter, the actual mechanics of it, is a vote by the 

Commission ultimately? 

MR . MULCAHY : Wel 1, eventually they have to approve 

the syndicate, but Treasury, in reality, is the main player in 

this thing. They have to be. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Mulcahy. 

Mr. Bagger, back to you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Thank ·you, Mr. Chairman. 

almost finished. 

I am 

Would your recommend.ation in 1992 have been to retain 

Merrlll Lynch as the lead underwriter? 

MR. MULCAHY: My recommendation at that time probably 

would have been, if it were left to me, ·but that was simply 

based upon· past practice and the performance I think they had · 

given. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: How did you first learn that the 

firm of Lazard Freres was being. considered, or would be 

recommended by the Treasurer's Office as the lead underwriter? 

MR. MULCAHY: I believe Cliff Goldman told tne, but I 

am not absolutely sure of that. If it wasn't Cliff, then it 

was Bob Lurie in Treasury, or somebody. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: At ·that time were you presented 

with the whole syndicate, or--

MR. MULCAHY: No, because you start out-- You have to 

begin. the work with the lead underwriter, and the syndicate is 

put together practically at the last minute before you go to 

sale. They really come along, and then they are given a 

portion of bonds to sell. I mean, that is really what 

happens. 

sale. 

So they really don't play a role until there is a 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: At that time, had you met, or did 

you know Mr. Porea (phonetic spelling) of that firm? 

no. 

him? 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't believe I met him before that, 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Did you subsequently meet him? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, of course .. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: How did you first come to meet 
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MR. MULCAHY: He came after they indicated he was the 

lead underwriter. We had a meeting, and he came to the meeting 

representing Lazard. That is how I came to meet him. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: So I take it Lazard had no 

previous experience within the Sports Authority? 

MR. MULCAHY: My recollection is that they_ did not. I 

can't say unequivocally that they might not have been a piece 

of a syndicate in prior bond issues. I just don't recall, but 

I do not rec a 11 them as· a lead underwriter, no. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Did Mr. Pore a serve in any other 

capacity on the tef inancing other than as the lead underwriter? 

MR. MULCAHY: Do you mean for us? 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: Not to my knowledge. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Were you aware at the time that 

the Board approved the underwriting syndicate in February 1992 

of Mr. Porea and Lazard's experience in Florida and Kentucky? 

MR . MULCAHY : 

s_peaking about. 

I am not even sure I know what you are 

ASSEftiBLYMAN BAGGER: Were you aware of the criticism 

of Mr. Porea's record on public finance in any other states? 

MR. MULCAHY: Jerry, do you recall any? 

MR. GOODMAN: Not to the best of my knowledge. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: For both of you the answer is no? 

MR. MULCAHY: At this moment, I do not rec al 1. I am 

not sure whether I have heard it since, other than here. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Mr. Mulcahy, to your knowledge, 

did anyone ih ·the Governor's office discuss the hiring of 

Lazard with anyone on the Board? 

MR. MULCAHY: To my knowledge? 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: To your knowledge. 

MR. MULCAHY: To my knowledge, no. 

ASSEM5LYMAN BAGGER: Mr. Goodman, to you:r . knowledge, 

did the Governor's Office discuss the hiring of Lazard with 

anyone on the Board? 
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MR. GOODMAN: Not to the best of my knowledge. I can 
only say that they did not discuss it with me. 

ASSEMBLYMAN BAGGER: Thank you, and thank you, Mr. 
Chairman. 

I think the testimony today has been revealing, in 

that it is clear that the determination of the firms 

participating in the underwri~ing syndicate was established 

from within the administration and communicated to the 

Authority through the Tteasurer's Of£ice. I believe the 

Treasurer testified that some of those decisions were made 

within the Govenor' s Off ice, so I look forward to reading a 11 

of the testimony from all of our hearings together to 

synthesize my.conclusions .. 

today. 
ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: We may have completed the circle 

Mr. Smith, do you ·have any comments or questions? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: 'A couple of questions. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: . Yes? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Mr. Goodman and Mr. Mulcahy, as I. 

have listened to you, I would like to characterize your 

testimony as saying that there were not direct discussions with 

the two of you about the selection of the bond courtsel or the 

underwriters for the refinancing from, I guess, members of the 

Governor's Office. Is that a fair statement? 

MR. MULCAHY: Other than what I indicated earlier,· 

there were no conversations with me about either underwriters 

or bond· counsel -- other than what I have said here before. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Just to clear the record for 

everybody, what about the Speaker of the General Assembly? Was 

there any communication from his office as to the selection of 
bond counsel or underwriter? 

MR. MULCAHY: Do you mean, did he·call me up and talk 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: or any member of his staff? 
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MR. MULCAHY: Not to my recollection. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: The same for the Senate President 

and his staff? 

Goodman? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: The same for you, as wel 1, Mr. 

MR. GOODMAN: The same, correct. 

MR. MULCAHY: Do you mean on these bond issues? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: On these bond issues. 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't recall any conversations with 

them about specifics on these bond issues. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: How about with respect to the 

. Chairs of either the Appropriations Committee of the Senate or 

the General Assembly, either they or their staffs calling to 

inform the-..-

MR. MULCAHY: Do you mean Mr. Frelinghuysen or Mr. 

Kamin? No. 

staffs? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: I'm referring to Mr. Littell. 

MR. MULCAHY: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: As I said, either they or their 

MR. MULCAHY: No. I have had nothing but p.ositive 

relationships with Mr. Littell and Mr. Frelinghuysen, and Mr. 

Kamin, in terms of going to them whenever we had a bond issue 

and explaining what we were going to do. I have always gotten 

a welcome and a response. They never asked me--

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: You've had an opportunity as 

Executive Dir~ctor of the Sports Authority of participating in 

quite a few refinanci~gs of bonds. Is that true? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Based on that experience--- I am 

trying to get, I guess, some public policy issue, the point of 

this hearing. Is it a good thing that the Sports Authority and 

the State of New ·Jersey have discretion in the selection of 
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their bond counsel and underwriters, as opposed to a process in 

which whoever submits the lowest bid or the lowest price to 

perform the services will be selected? 

MR. MULCAHY: I think there are two quest ions there. 

One is, I think it's-~ First of all, our relationship with the 

State changed with the restructuring of the debt~-

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Right. 
'>" 

MR. MULCAHY: --in which the State had a much larger 

role, and therefore, I believe they have the greater role. 

However, with the Treasurer on the Board and the Governor able 

to veto minutes, I think they do have a role, and you have to 

acknowledge that they have a role. Frankly, it wo~ld .be 

foolish on my part to act in such a manner without them knowing 
what was going to happen. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Absolutely irresponsible. 

MR. MULCAHY: Or else you wind up with the opportunity 
of a--

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Correct. But getting back, l have 

less concern about the fact that the Treasurer's Off ice may 

have put forward people that would not be the most competent 

bond counsel or underwriters. That is not the problem I have. 

I am trying tb deal with the process. Would the State of New 

Jersey be better adopting a process in which we put out 

requests for proposal~i wh~ther the cheapest bid was selected, 

or is it a good thing that our authorities have the ability to 

exercise discretion? For example, you indicated earlier about 

Mudge Rose should have been involved because of their prior--

MR. MULCAHY: In our particular situation as bond 
counsel. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Yes, and they may not have been-­

For example, you put that out for bid. You might not have to 
do--

MR. MULCAHY: Absolutely, because you are going to get 

-- you can get lowball bids, and you can wind up in a situation 
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when you have to cut-- So part of it-gets back to the issue I 

talked about on whether you bid a bond issue. It depends on 

the issue~ the complexity of it, how you are going to deal with 

it. That is the difficulty this Committee has in coming forth 

with one set of rules--

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Right. 

MR . MULCAHY : --as to how you are going to deal with 

each bond issue, in my view. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: So the situation is-­

MR. MULCAHY: In my view. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: So a situation in which we adopted 

as a law of this State that bond counsel, pro-counsel, 

underwriters, and all that you have selected-- Well anyway, 

that is, whether offers to perform services at a lower price 

may not ultimately be in the best interest of the--

MR. MULCAHY: In my view, I concur with that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Okay. That being said-..,. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: That's to the heart of Executive 

Order No. 92. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: That being said, this is the 

problem with newspaper accounts of these hearings. Isn't the 

problem not one of discretion -- who'.s picked -- but isn't the 

problem that the public perceives that the process is tainted--

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: --because all during the 

gubernatorial election we read accounts of which candidate 

received how many tens of thousands of dollars from the firms 

that provided counsel to the underwriters? Isn't the teal 

problem the public perception of trust? 

MR. MULCAHY: Frankly, I believe that to be so. If 

none of them gave a dollar, we would go back to trying to make 

the best decision on who to use for a particular bond issue. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Isn't 

problem-- Isn't the · solotion to 

the 

the 

solution 

problem 

to the 

passing 

legislation in which we prohibit bond counsel, pro~counsel, and 

underwriters from making contributions to the gubernatorial 

candidates, Senate candidates, or Assembly tandidates? Should 

we make the process pristine? 

when are 

industry 

MR. MULCAHY: Are you asking for my personal opinion? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Mr. Chairman, the question is, 

we going to consider those bills? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Well, Mr. ·Smith, if I may, the 

has responded publicly through their professional 

organizations, some of whom have the force of law, that they 

are not making political. contributions 26 municipal bond 

firms, I think that is the correct number. I have yet to hear 

from the legal community to indicate that they are going to 

participate in no longer financing campaigns and making 

contributions. In fact, the question I had tied in with this 

is, ~here are the RFPs for the law firms and for the trustees 

and the escrow managers, and for the others who get involved 

with this whole process? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: We, the Legislature, have made a 

conscious public policy decision about the number of industries 

wherein· we believe that their participation in State politics 

would pervert the process. We have limitations on casino 

contributions; we have limitations on bank contributions; we 

have limitations on insurance contributions; we have 

limitations on public utility contributions. If the problem in 

the State of New Jersey today, especially after three months of 

seeing newspaper articles in The . Star-Ledger every day about 

campaign contributions from the bond counsel, the cocounsel, 

and ·the underwriters for both candidates, is that the public 

believes that the process is tainted, isn't the solution to 

44 



the problem to reform that? Shouldn't we regulate campaign 

contributions? Let's eliminate them; let's eliminate those 

contributions. Let us make the process pristine so that the 

public believes that when bond counsel, cocounsel, or 

underwriters are selected, they are· selected because they are 

working in the best interest of the State. 

So that is what you can do. That is what we should be 

doing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So, Mr. Smith, you disagree with 

Executive Order No. 92, then? 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: I agree with the statement I just 

made. I agree with Mr. Mulcahy's statement. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Well, then, you agree ~ith many on 

this Committee--

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Assemblyman Russo has a bill that-~ 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: --who say that the process is not 

the problem, the process as it has been done in the--

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: I don't say it is a bad thing for 

the Governor and the Treasurer to make· reconunendations to the 

Authority about good bond counsel and good underwriters. That 

is a fine thing. The problem is the campaign contributions. 

That is what subverts the public's belief that this process is 

fair and impartial and that we are picking the best people. 

That is what we have to limit. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: 

perhaps Mr. Smith is correct. 

Well, in his simplistic way, 

Let me get back to Assemblywoman Farragher for some 

questions as well. 

But my point here, in response to yours, is that what 

. is different here is the participants and how they became 

involved. We almost circumvented the expertise of the Sports 

and Exposition Authority that it utilized in the past. They 

didn't review. It was all done out of the Treasurer's Office. 

The recommendations were coming from the Treasurer's Off ice. 
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In fact, we waved the wand over firms that weren't even 

qualified. Tri-State Securities hadn't responded to the RFP. 

They just came in., changing the rules as they went along. . It· 

was a different set of the way to play the game. 

You are quite correct, Mr. Smith. I fully agree with 

you. It is not whether it is a negotiated or a competitive 

bid. There is a different set of circumsta~ces for putting all 

. of this together. It is not the process;· it is who chooses to 

participate, or who is allowed to participate. That is where 

the problems have developed over this. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: The Governor of the State, the 

administration. of the State, the Senate President, all of the 

leaders of the State government should have input in selecting 

the best qualified bond counsel, underwriters, the banks, 

firms, .whatever, to work with the State. 

But the flip side of that is that there shouldn't be 

incentive for them to pick one firm or the other. Eliminate 

campaign contributions from that industry. Make the process 

pure. Let's clean up the problem. If you ask the 7.5 million 

people in the State who just went through this gubernatorial 

campaign what they saw wrong ~ith the bonding practices of the 

State, they would say it in two words: "Campaign 

contributions." They wouldn't. talk about who made the 

recommendations. 

clean up the 

It's campaign contributions. If you want to 

problem, you eliminate those campaign 

contributions in any State office Governor, Senate, or 

Assembly. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Oftentimes, Mr. Smith, I think 

that response does not answer the entire question here, and, to 

a large extentj is a smoke screen for what really happened. 

Assemblywoman Farragher? 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Mulcahy, you have been with the Sports and 

Expo~ition Authority now through several administrations. 
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MR. MULCAHY: Since 1979. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: 

closely ~ith the gentleman from 

Merrill Lynch? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: 

And you have worked 

Mudge Rose and also 

And according to what 

very 

with 

you 

said, you were very con:tfortable, in fact, very insistent that 

Mudge Rose continue as the bond counsel, but you were less 

insistent about Merrill Lynch. Did you have a problem with. 

Merrill Lynch? 

MR. MULCAHY: No. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: When Lazard was named as the 

lead underwriter for the issue, if I understood what you said 

correctly, you were unaware that they had problems in Kentucky 

and Florida? 

MR. MULCAHY: My recollection is that at the time I 

was not aware of that~ or that Mr. Porea had-- I met Mt. Porea 

when he came to the first meeting. Whether I heard about it 

subsequently, I can't tell you. I may have and I may not 

have. It is just not something that I can focus on. Certainly 

if-- I don't know how else to answer you. It was not an issue. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Through the Chair, Mr. 

Mulcahy, I just would observe that were I in your position and 

a new firm came before me that I was going to have to deal 

with, I would want to know everything about them, and I would 

turn over every rock until I found it out. 

You seem to me to· be very conscientious, sir, in your 

position, and very insistent on how a job is done and that it 

is done right because it is in the best inter~st of the State. 

I find your disinterest in examining Lazard a little 

frustrating -- to hear that. 

MR. MULCAHY: The only think I can tell you -is that in 

another role, in another place, I had seen Lazard perform, and 

I knew they were a reputable underwriting firm. So I had no 

reason to believe that they were not reputable. 
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ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: In the instance of Lazard, 

it was not right-- It is not the firm that is the problem. -In 

this case, it was the individual. - Problems came about because 

_of some statements that he made as to what had to be done to 

gain business in - other states, and, of course, those 

allegations have cast a pall over what has been done in New 
Jersey. 

MR. MULCAHY: Is that what the problem was with him? 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Yes, very much so. In fact, 

the expenses for the bond structured by him for Florida cost 

4.8 percent of the principal, compared to 1-1/2 percent on 

average nationwide. 

MR. MULCAHY: And we did a pretty good job of holding 
them down. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Certain things that were 

related to executives in the company were, like, "Well, this is 

who you have to-- This is what you have to do to get that 
business." 

But, Mr. Mulcahy and Mr. Chairman, do you not think 

that the Board should play -- and I have to say this in a 

quasi-board situation in a local governing body-- We certainly 

paid a great deal of attention to who our bond counsel was and 

who underwrote our financings. Shouldn't the Board give some 

attention to who is selected to do the underwriting? Granted, 

the State Treasurer is a voting member there and he is on the 

Finc;tncial Committee, but shouldn't the other members take an 
interest? 

MR • MULCAHY : I thin~ they all take an interest. In 
fact, some of them, I am sure, have investments with -- or know 

about many of these investment houses. I'm sure that if they 

felt there was a firm they had some concerns about, they would 

raise them. That has been the history of the Commissioners who 

are there. They are not afraid to speak up if they think there 
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is something untoward that might be, but in this case I don't 

remember anybody spe~king of it, do you, Jerry? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, and, quite frankly, I don• t think 

there is any Commissioner who has the expertise or the 

knowledge that comes out of the Treasurer's Office with regard 

to underwriters and/or investment bankers. 

MR. MULCAHY: In addition, Cliff Goldman is a pretty 

savvy guy. I would rely on him if he felt they were qualifi~d 

to do the work. If he told me they were not qualifi~d, I would 

be the first guy down here screaming. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER; Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Assemblywoman Farragher. 

Assemblyman Lance? 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Thank you, Mr .. Chairman. 

Mr. Goodman, I was intrigued by your testimony earlier 

regarding your relationship with the Board. You stated that 

you had originally requested that you might want to go on the 

Board and in that ~apacity serve as Chairman of the Soard. Did 

I hear that accurately? 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMA.N LANCE: As I understand it, you have . had 

extensive experience in the private sector at what I guess is a 

bank in Camden County, the First People's Financial 

Corporation. Is that what you would call a bank? 

MR. GOODMAN: You would call it a bank. You would 

call it either the fourth or fifth largest bank in the State of 

New Jersey, one of the top 300 banks in the United States. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: You have been the Chairman, the 

CEO, and the President of that large organization? 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Therefore' you have had 

significant experience in financial matters. 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, I would think that I had 

significant experience with regard to certain types of 

financial matters. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Then you told us that in your 

capacity as Chairman at the Sports Authority, you chaired the 

monthly meeting and you. were. involved, perhaps one-half day a 

month, in the Sports and Exposition Authority's matters. 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, that is my recollection. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Then you said you felt your 

experi_ence there was different from what you thought it would 

be. Is that accurate? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. When I took the job and when I 

made the request, I wasn't knowledgeable-- Let's say I did not 

have the knowledge that there was such a strong and competent 

CEO at the Sports Authority. l think the Commission is 

probably not much different than a Board of Directors for all 

practical purposes. Where you h_ave a Board of Directors and 

the CEO is not the Chairman, the CEO can be the President, and 

you can have j~st the Chairman. It is usually the CEO who is 

the pers·on with tile greatest authority. The Chairman becomes 

sort of ceremonial if he is not the CEO, and I don't see that 

as being any different at the Sports Authority~_ We ·had a 

strong President, a strong CEO, and my position, _as far .as I am 

concerned, wa~ very, very ceremonial. I conducted meetings. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I think we got a different 

impression, for better or worse, from Peter Levine as to his 

responsibilities when he was Chairman. That is certainly not 

something that you are able to discuss. 

Would you recommend that in the future the position of 

Chairman be more substantive than it apparently ha$ been during 

your tenure ~~ to use your own word, "ceremonial?" 

MR. GOODMAN: Well, number one, there is no job 

description, as far as I am concerned, as to what the . 

Chairman's job is. And number two, the Chairman's job, or the 

responsibility given to the Chairman, I would think, would 

depend greatly upon who the CEO was and how strong the CEO 

was. I think when you look at me, I am a South Jersey boy. I 
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have been on the Authority since June of 1991. 

sits here. He has 14 years of experience. I 

Levine sperit about the same amount of time with 

Authority, and probably over that period of time 

Bob Mulcahy 

think Peter 

the Sports 

ga_thered a 

great deal of knowledge as to what took place at the Sports 

Authority. So in my opinion, the authority given to the 

Chairman, or what the Chairman is e~pected to do, once again, 

depends on how s~rong the CEO isp 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I suppose that to some extent, Mr. 

Goodman, perhaps what decisions are made in a Governor's 

Office-- I assume the Governor's Office could choose to 

involve the Chairman to a greater ext~nt than might have 

otherwise, or formerly, been the case given--

MR. GOODMAN: I think you are 100 percent correct. I 

know that Bob attended meetings in Trenton, depending upon wheH 

he was summoned, maybe anywhere from one to four times a 

month. I think there was only one occasion during my period on 

the Commission where I was asked to attend okay? in 

conjunction with Mr. Mulcahy. That sort of took ~e out of the 

loop. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Mulcahy, I have been 

discussing the fact that Mr. Goodman's testimony has been that 

his role as Chairman is largely ceremonial his phrase, not 

mine -~ and that was not the impression we got from Mr. Levine 

in October. 

From your perspective as a CEO, has the role of 

Chairman changed in recent years and, beyond that, what Should 

the role of Chairman be? 

MR. MULCAHY: well, I think I indicated earlier that 

different Chairmen ·have different interests. In my opinion, 

largely because of the distance problem, Mr. Goodman has spent 

less time at the Authority than Mr. Levine or Mr. Hanson. It 

didn't mean that I felt any less coMfortable with him, or that 
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I would not call him and go over policy issues that were 

there. I think different Chairmen perceive different roles. 

What has happened, though, is, the complex -- or the 

Authority itself has gotten to be a very complex business. We 

are competing on a daily basis ~ith many competitors in 

different sports and in different-activities. You almost have 

to be there every day, eight hour$ a day, if you are going to 

be a participant in it -- an active. participant -- other than 

on major policy roles, which would always go to the Executive 

Committee and· the Board. So I think, in my view, yes, Mr. 

Goodman was less active than Mr. Levine, not because of 

interest, but because of distanc~. I think different Chairmen 

perceive a different role, and I also think the complexity of 

the Authority has gotten greater, certain 1 y, in the 1 as t five 

years than it had been before that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I want to make it clear, Mr. 

Mulcahy, that while you were out of the room I pointed out that 

based upon the information I received, Mr. Goodman has been 

President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of what I call 

a bank~ _He points out that it is one of the largest ones in 

the United States. I do not mean to denigrate your experience 

in business, Mr. Mulcahy. I am trying to determine whether in 

the future, through the Governor's Office 6r in whatever other 

way is appropriate, that there be greater · involvement of . the 

Chairman since it is clear that no person is indispensable, 

although we have a Chief Executive Officer whose experience in 

this area has been over the cburse of 15 years. 

Would ·you take the job again, Mr.·. Goodman? 

MR. GOODMAN: Maybe !_should try a better explanation, 

because I have my own philosophy with regard to_ what being the 

Chairman and/or what being the CEO is. I have had the 

opportunity over the last 15 years to be the Chairman and CEO 

and President of more than one public ins ti tut ion. My own 

philosophy is that the CEO -- that person who is the paid 
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runner, for all practical purposes, of the company is 

someone who spends anywhere f tom 55 or 60 hours a week at that 

business. The Directors and, in this case, the Commissioners 

spend approximately an hour a month attending a meeting. 

My philosophy is that it is very, very di £f icult for 

some6ne who spends one hour a month, or three hours a- month, to 

teach the CEO who spends 250 hours a month the nature of his 

business. So I happen to feel -- okay? ~- that a strong CEO is 

the one who commands the responsibility and runs the show. 

MR. MULCAHY: Also, there are some checks and 

balances. We have a thorough budget process, in.eluding-~ 

Almost every scheduled event is gone over with each of the 

Commissioners, and that is the business plan for the year. 

There are also fairly sophisticated financial statements that 

are sent to the Commissioners relating to daily P&Ls at th~ 

racetrack, as well as monthly, so there is an ability for them, 

just by reading, ,to monitor what's happening. 

ASSEMBLYMA_N LANCE: Thank you, Mr. Mulcahy. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Excuse me, Mr. Lance. Mr. 

Goodman, would you not, as a Board, have oversight over Mr. 

Mulcahy's actions, from a policy standpoint? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, we would. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Would you not then regularly 

review what he had done? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. We were given reports on a monthly 

basis, as Mr. Mulcahy or Bob -- just mentioned. That would 

be the primary method of review. In other words, you would be 

given an update, a report, a complete set of financials, all 

bills that had to be paid over a. certain number of dollars. 

All bills had to be over a certain number of dollars. There 

were many, many ratifications of all the actions -- or of many 

of th~ actions -- of the CEO~ That was the oversight. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: I think it was important, 

sir, that that be said, because the impression you were giving 
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to this Committee, or at least to me, was that, more or less; 

your role was just to be there in sort of a perfunctory form to 

just basically allow the CEO free rein, and that, I know, is 

not the case. 

MR. GOODMAN: No. I think maybe I misled you. I was 

talking about the Chairman~s position per Se, not the position 

of being a Commissioner. In other words, we had all the 
Ir 

responsibilities and all the duties that you spoke of as 

Commissioners. But I tried to let you believe that my job as 

the Chairman okay? was only. one, for all practical 

purposes, of being ~n honorarium. 

·ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: I understand. 

MR. MULCAHY: Also, the Executive Committee would meet 

monthly, at which time we would go through the issues -- the 

policy issues and any other issues that we would have. There 

are other Committees of the Board that meet. The Construction 

Committee meets all the time relating to the Atlantic City 

projects and the Rutgers projects. So there are Committees of 

the Board that function. I think there was a misunderstanding 

as to what Jerry was trying to e~plain. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: There was. 

MR . GOODMAN : Yes. I think just one other thing: 

Concerning the question with regard to the time I put in, I was 

talking about the time I put in_ as Chairman and/or conducting a 

meeting. I was not talking about the time I put in by serving 

on various Committees -- okay? -- at the Authority. Those were 

all in addition--

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: ·Additional time. 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Sorry for interrupting. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Thank you, Assemblywoman Farragher. 

Moving to another area, when Mr. Levine was here two 

months ago, Mr. Goodman, there was a lengthy discussion about a 

meeting in . February of 1992 when the Board approved a $224 

54 



1.~ 

million bond Sale. As I understand it, he did not vote for 

that. He has said that in 1985, I think, there were nine bond 

firms; whereas, in 1992 there were 21. The minutes of the 

~eeting suggest that more firms were included to let more New 

Jersey firms participate, which is something I certainly ~ould 

agree with. 

MR. GOODMAN: And, I think, minorities. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: And additionally minorities. Our 

statistics seem to indicate that 17 percent of the bonds went 

to New Jersey-based firms. I'm wondering why it was so low, 

given the fact that the reason the number was increased so 

dramatically from nine to 21 -- one of the two reasons; the 

other being tbe minorities, and I will get to that in a moment 

-- was to try to include New Jersey firms. Can you explain 

that to me in any detail? 

MR. GOODMAN: I can't explain that,. because I had 

nothing to do with the allocations -~ or, we had nothing to do 

with those specific allocations. In other words, what was 

sold-- I think that is usually done by the lead underwriter. 

Bob Mulcahy, correct me if I am wrong. 

MR. MULCAHY: No, and. I think it may relate to how 

many bonds the firms wanted to commit themselves to. It is not 

something that we particip~ted in. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: So I should be asking this 

question of someone else? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Neither you nor Mr. Goodman~­

MR. MULCAHY: It is not our role'? 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: It's not your job. 

MR. GOODMAN: No, sir. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Would the same be true regarding 

minority firms? 

minority firms, 

Our statistics are that 6. 3 percent went to 

and over half of that 6. 3 percent went to a 
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firm in New York -- M.R. Beal & Comp~ny. So I am curious on 

that issue, as well, but that is not something you can answer. 

MR. GOODMAN: No, ! have no knowledge. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: When Mr. Levine was here the 

subject was raised, based upon press ~ccounts, th~t twice 

during the meeting you, as Chairman, tried to defer Mr. 

Levine's questions about the bond selection process. Would you 

care to respond to that to the press accounts of that 

meeting and to Mr. Levine's testimony earlier? 

MR. GOODMAN: Number one, I don't have the press 

account in front of me, so it would be very, very difficult for 

me to respond to it. My recollection :-- okay? -- and it is 

just a recollection, is that I think this was either my first 

meeting or second meeting as Chairman. I think, quite frankly, 

that Mr. Levine was a little unh~ppy about me ha~ing replace~ 

him, and I think he.was somewhat repetitive with regard to his 

thoughts. Ok~y? In other words, it was the same thing being 

said over and over again. I think I finally asked him for a 

reason. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE:. So from your perspective, Mr. 

Goodman, you did not wish to forestall discussion of the bond 

selection process. You just thought that Mr. Levine was 

repetitive at that time. 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. I think-- My 

recollection is that the Attorney General, who was present at 

the meeting, told me that I s~ould let Mr. Levine talk as much 

as he wanted, and he continued for as long as he wanted. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Goodman, Mr. Levine told us, 

and also the newspapers, that the Commissioners, . "should have 

the necessary information and ·the ability to discuss it and 

make decisions, as opposed to being a rubber stamp." Let's put 

it that way. That is not my phrase; it was Mr. Levine's. He 

also said that he had not seen a list of the firms until the 

day of the vote. 
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Since that. time, and you are now engaging in some 

bonding -- some new bonding ;..._ is it your recommendation that 

these lists be given to the members of the Authority before the 

day of the vote? 

MR. GOODMAN: My personal opinion is that I don't 

think the list is significant -- okay? -- specifically to those 

members, or those Commissioners. I don't think they have the 

expertise or knowledge to know who is good · and who is bad. 

That is the very reason why we hire experts -- okay? to make 

those recommendations. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Mulcahy, what is your 

seat-of ~the-pants opinion on whether or not it is important in 

the future to give lists of the underwriters to th& members of 

the Board before the day of the vote? 

MR. MULCAHY: The bottom line is, the syndicate . is 

going to be given an allocation of bonds to sell. The lead 

underwriter is responsible for getting it done. I think, from 

an informational standpoint, it might be fine to give it. I 

think far mote important is the process that is used to put 

together the syndicate to ma.ke sure that you have a · snydicate 

that can sell the bonds. Frankly, that is the important part 

of the process, not really whether-- The syndicate memb~rs are 

going to be allocated something to sell. if they sell them, 

they will make money. If they don't sell them, they won't. By 

being placed there they are given the opportunity to sell. It 

is not that they are automatically given money if they get 

there. But I think the process is more important than whether 

the Commissioners have a list. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Goodman, Peter Levine made 

rather strong statements on what he characterized as 

interference by the administration, and what . he characterized 

as his fight to maintain the integrity and independen6e of the 

body. I gather from what you have been saying that you do not 
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believe that there was any compromise of the integrity or 
independence of the Authority. 

MR. GOODMAN: I don't think so. That would be my 
statement just as you said it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Mulcahy, reg.arding the issues 
we have been discussing--

MR. MULCAHY: Regarding the bond issues? 
ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: It is hard for me to say other than to 

relate to what I have testified to. ·rn terms of how they were 

selected, I was not in that process. In terms of keeping the 

costs down in carrying out the functions of doing the issu~s, I 

think we did a good job. Frankly, in that process· I don't 

recall anybody bothering us once it got started. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Have· you been .. involved -- you may 

have covered this already --- in· the selection process of the 
bond houses before-this? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: You have before this, but you were 

not in this situation, so at least in that regard-- Were you 

involved in that process, Mr. Mulcahy, in both the-- I guess 

you testified that there were no bond issues while you were 
there during the Byrne years. 

MR. MULCAHY: No, they had been done earlier before I 
got there. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: So you were involved in the 
selection of the bond houses during the Kean years? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes . 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: But you were not in the Florio 
years? 

MR. MULCAHY: That is co r r·ect . 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: So that is a difference--

MR. MULCAHY: Right. Plus our role changed in '92. 
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funding? 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Your role changed because of State. 

MR. MULCAHY: Right, right. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Well, that might--

MR. MULCAHY: I think this: I think if you have an 

experienced CEO who has 

person's opinion ought 

personal opinion. 

been 

to be 

there awhile, certainly that 

solicited. That is my own 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Chairman, I think this raises 

a fundamental point ~- and this is a comment, not a question. 

lt wotild seem to me that in the future, Mr. Mulcahy, or whoever 

is the CEO, should be involved, if not as a decision maker, 

then at least be .given the opportunity to give his o:t her 

opinion regarding the bond houses, number one. 

Number two, it is my opinion now that it seems to me 

that perhaps it should include a recommendation by the 

~hairman, be it John Hanson, ·Peter Levine, or you, Mr. Goodman, 

based upon your many years of experience in the business 

community. I think yoµ have been modest as to your experience 

in the weighty affairs of finance. 

But regardless of that fact, there apparently has been 

a difference between the Kean administration and the Florio 

administration regarding this area. Loo.king into the future 

for the Whitman administration, it certainly would be my 

recommendation for what it is worth that the CEO be 

involved, at least on a consultant basis, in determining who 

the bond houses are. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Lance. 

Assemblywoman Farragher, and then we wil 1 have 

Assemblyman Gibson.· and Assemblyman Romano. Assemblywoman 

Farragher? 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Through the Chair, Mr. Mulcahy, to follow up on what Mt~ Lance 
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was getting at, in the earlier bond issues when Merrill Lynch 

was the lead, did you know the names of the firms that were 

chosen as part of the syndicates? 

MR. MULCAHY: Well, in that -- and I think I .testified 

to this -- I was asked to include certain firms. 

--
Merri 11 Lynch? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. Also, we at that time used Merrill 

Lynch as the financial adviser, as well as the lead uhderwriter. 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Okay. When Lazard was named 

as the lead, did you recognize many of the names of the bond 

firms that were part of the syndicate, or were some of the~ new? 

_ MR. MULCAHY: I'm sure some of them were new. I just 

don't recall. There were several, and I just don't recall 

which ones were on that. If you gave me a sheet of that, I 

could tell you how many I recognize and how many I don't. 

-ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Okay. Thank you. Thank 

you, Mr. Chairman~ 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: You're welcome. Assemblyman 

Romano? 

ASSEMBL~N ROMANO: Oh, I thought you were just going 

to---

ASSEMBLYMAN 

couple of poirits you 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

you since--

KAMIN: 

w·ant to 

ROMANO: 

KAMIN: 

Well, I 

make. 

I will be 

We would 

know you only have a 

brief. 

also like to hear from 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: I know. I always end up on the -

end of the conversation. In any event, through you, Mr. 

Chairman, I just have a basic question for both parties. I 
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myself appreciate the information arrived at today. I was not 

surprised, because I expected the sort of answers you gave, 

because I think the both of you epitomize the highest ideals of 

your respective offices. 

Just to· satisfy myself-- I am wondering: At any 

time, did you ever get any pressure from any source to move the 

bond issues toward a direction that would compromise the 

efficiency, effectiveness, or the economy of the Authority, in 

your own judgments as respective CEO and as Chairperson of the 

Board? 

MR. GOODMAN: As the Chairperson I have stated before 

that I never received any. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Mr. Mulcahy? 

MR. MULCAHY: I think I indicated that I was not part 

of the process of selecting the underwriters, so I w~s not in 

that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: From all of the other remarks you 

made today, you have substantiated that. 

I just bave a comment, if 1 may. First of all, 

through you, Mr. Chairman, I think before whefi you paused, you 

were looking for certain words and you were satisfied, perhaps, 

with the answer given by Mr. Goodman. I think you were looking 

for, "Aw shucks!" (laughter) 

On another note, I think what we have here today 

becomes one of those conversations, and it is aptly such, about 

the perception of roles that one sees when fulfilling the 

position of a CEO and/or a Chairperson, you know, in all due 

deference to Mr. Goodman. So it took a while for everybody to 

understand. I knew from the beginning you were talking as the 

role of the Chairperson, as against just being a Commissioner 

on the Board. 

MR. GOODMAN: That's correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: And you saw it as ceremonial; 

whereas, someone -- your predecessor, in fact saw it as, 
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let's say, a leadership role to bring the Board or 

Commissioners along. Obviously, we have a situation where we 

have an excellent CEO,. and the Board requires, or relies upon 

the input of the CEO to guide them in things as much as 

possible, which I am sure Bob Mulcahy has done. In answer-­

Or~ not in answer, in explanation, we talk about CEOs having a· 

direct relationship to advisements in the appointment of 

counsels and that. I think it is a given that Mr. Mulcahy is 

not the sort of a person who sits and takes a backseat. I'm 

sure his views on whatever he feels needs to be said, are said, 

but as a good CEO he also understands he does not. have a 
voting-....: You don't vote on the Commission, do you, Bob? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, I do. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Oh, you do? 

MR. MULCAHY: By statute. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: H,e does not overwhelm the 

Commission. I think only at the time when someone suggested, 

"Why don't you quit? If there is something you don't like, you 

_c~n .always resign--" I think it beca~e a matter of a moral.and 

legal issue for us to do that. These are the types of issues 

in · terms of preference; of one thing versus another thing. I 

dtin't think these are matters where we are willing to give up 

our position. And by the way, I am glad we all realize that as 

a Chairperson of the Commission they are not paid. This is not 

a salaried position. 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Everyone comes to the role as 

Chairperson with a different perception. You have your. 

perception. We have that same problem in education. That is 

why_you'll notice there is a bill, which now became law -- or 

will become law where Board of Education trustees are 

required to go through training. These trustees are required. 

There is 

authorities. 

no school for Chairpersons of independent 

I'm sure that Bob Mulcahy' s role and duties and 
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obligations are clearly defined in some sort of statute or 

handbook, and ·that the Board of Commissioners sits over and 

just looks over his shoulder to, how shall I say, give ~- pat on 

the shoulder or to correct anything that perhaps they might QOt 

like. But I am sure in Bob's case· that is not usually the 

case. Iim sure somebody within would applaud. 

But these are all the variables that went to this 

whole matrix of leadership -- following --- bei.ng ceremonial. I 

think it is very difficult to train someone in that sort of 

position and say, "This is the way you should be as the 

Chairperson," the same way it is . difficult to come up with 

leadership and ability. You don't usually find somebody like a 

Bob Mulcahy every day of the week. 

Those are the only comments I have, Mr. Chairperson. 

I hope I didn't unnerve you _at all. Far be it for me to divest 

myself of my, how shall I say, unusual countenance as being the 

nice guy, which I am always criticized for, but thank you, 

gentlemen, very much for corning here today. 

MR. GOODMAN: Thank you. 

MR. MULCAHY: ·Might I add, Mr. Chairman--­

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Sure. 

MR. MULCAHY: --in the business we're in, there is no 

short supply of people who think they have better answers to 

doing what we do, including the Commissioners. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Dr. Romano, it is always a 

pleasure to hear your thoughts. I guess when you referred to 

the "Aw shucks" point of the meeting, yes, !·was somewhat taken 

aback because--

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: wasn't that the proper term that 

you were looking for, "Aw shucks?" 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Darn. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Darn. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Because, number one, of what Mr. 

Salema had said at the time of the appointment of the Chairman 

to the spot- .... 
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ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Newspapers you are talking about? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN.: This. was his quote -- this was Mr. 

Sa lemQ 's quote, that Mr. Goodman was going to "roll up your 

sleeves and analyze the Authority's structure. We are going to 

wait for him" -- referring to Mr. Goodman -- "to tell us what 
rteeds to be done." Now, that is more of a hands-oni 

get-in-there, see-what-is-going-on kind of thing, and then we 
have--

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: ·But didn't.the Chair--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Now we have Chairman telling us 

what his role has been over there. We also found out that as 

opposed to previous times when the Authority, with its special 

advisers Merrill Lynch, law firms that worked with them 

giving them the advice, and the Finance Comrni ttee within the 

Sports and Expo Si ti on . Authority making the choices --- we no't.7 

find out that it was the Treasurer's Office giving the 

direction. Now, that is also in contrast to public statements 

by the administration, which say, "We don't do bonds." So, 

with those two things -- Mr. Salema' s charge to the Chairman 

and the "We don't do bonds" comment, I didn • t expect those 

kinds of answers today. That is why maybe I was, "Oh, darn" or 

"Aw shucks." 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: I am not going to comment on your 

final remarks in terms of who said what; that proves this or 

that proves that. You know, I am talking about-- I am not an 

attorney. · What is that, (indiscernible), or is that 
circumstantial ev~dence? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: That is why you are held in such 
high regard in this Committee. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: But let's get back to your 

original remark, which I think--

ASSEMBLYMAN· SMITH: Mr. Russo and Mr. Lance both 
appreciate that comment. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: When you talked about Mr. 

Salema's comment about Mr. Goodman rolling up his sleeves, that 

was, my dear friends, Mr. Salema's perception of what ·the 

Chairperson would do, but that doesn't make it that that is Mr. 

Goodman's perception of what it should be. And Mr. Salema had 

the perfect right to express his thoughts about ~hat the 

Chairperson of the Authority should be. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: But Mr. Salema, remember, in 

testimony today, is the one. who asked Mr. ·Goodman to, number 

one, become a Commissioner, and then ultimately be the Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: No, if I heard correctly, I think 

Mr. Goodman had said to Mr. Salema that he was interested in 

it, but had he looked toward becoming the Chairperson? 

MR. GOODMAN: You heard correctly, Mr. Romano. 

ASSEMBLYMAN ROMANO: Even though these ears fail me a 

little bit, when I do hear, I hear very well. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is always a pleasure. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Dr. Romano. 

MR. MULCAHY: I also think that with all due ....,_ if you 

will permit me, Mr. Chairman--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Mulcahy, certainly. 

MR. MULCAHY: Jerry Goodman is a very independent 

guy. He is not someone who is going to sit around and take 

orders if he doesn't think they should be done. I mean, my 

relationship with Jerry has always been that if we had issues, 

I would talk to him about them, and I respected his 

independence. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

MR. GOODMAN: Would you just allow me one word? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Chairman, sir. 

MR. GOODMAN: I wouldn't want everybody to think her_e 

today that I am a 98-pound weakling. I run five miles every 

day. I have had as many as 1500 employees under my supervision 

at one time. But the truth is -- okay? ~- that when you step 

into a position and you find that you have a very, very strong 
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CEO who is very, very knowledgeable, very, very capable, it 

diminishes --- okay? the role that ·I may have been able to 

play, or could have played. Okay? I was not about to be a 

duplicate of what it was he was dbing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Gibson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Just a 
. Ii" 

follow-up question on the series of questions Assemblyman Lance 

had, Mr. Mulcahy. 

I would like you maybe to clear- up for me why your 

policy was just to accept who was selected as lead bond 

counsel, but on~e ·that selection was made you were very much 

involved in keeping the costs down. You were involved in that 

part of it, but not involved in the selection part of it. I 
' . ' 

would like you to explain why one is--

MR. MULCAHY: Well, I felt that I had a more direct 

opportunity to deal with the latter part, because once the 

selection was made, really, it was our people involved in it, 

as opposed to the selection process. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Isn't the Governor's Office still 

available to veto? Is it the Treasurer? 

MR. MULCAHY: They can veto, but they weren't there on 

a daily basis to sit in the meetings, to work out the process 

and· the ~ale of the bonds. When it came to pricing, the 

Treasurer was involved in the pricing, as were we. But it was 

a different role, because at that point once you start the 

perfunctory work of doing the issue, then we have a staff that 

is involved in that and we can control those costs. 

ASSEMBLYMAN· GIBSON: I'm sure you could work with 

whomever they sent you, but it would seem to me that if you 

were going to be working with somebody on an ongoing basis, 

that yorir input as to the selection process would be very, very 

important. 

MR~ MULCAHY: I appreciate your comments. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Mr. Goodman, I still have a 

little question as to what you expected and, really, what you 

ended up with. Maybe it ~ill help me to understand. Are you 

employed in any other position now? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes, I am. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: A full-time position? 

MR. GOODMAN: I have a full-time position. I happen 

to be the Chairman of Travel One, which is the country's 12th 

largest travel company. But that is not a new position. That 

is a po~ition I have had all during the peiiod of time that I 

was in the banking business. i also happen to be the sole 

shareholder, which makes my employment guaranteed. (laughter) 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: So there really is an awful lot 

of competition on your time. You had understood that when you 

were going for Commissioner, and expecting to be the Chairman 

of the Commission. 

MR. GOODMAN: No, Mr. Gibson, there isn't a lot of 

demand with regard to my time because I have had occasion to 

have several open-heart surgery operations. Once you wake up 

with the tube in your throat and you realize what you have gone 

through, it allows you to take a different perspective on life. 

So my time is exactly what I want it to be. If I want to work, 

I work; if I don't want to work, I don't work. If I want to 

spend a lot of time with the Sports Authority, I spend a lot of 

time with the Sports Authority. Where I feel that it would be 

duplicative, I don't spend any time, because I have a great 

deal of confidence in the gentleman who is running the Sports 

Authority, fo~ all practical purposes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Thank you. The series of 

questions, I guess, that I would like to pursue are similar 

ones as I pursued at the last hearing with Mr. Levine. They 

have to do with some of the other professionals who were 

hired. It wasn't clear to me from Mr. Levine's answers to my 

questions, but I am sure you can help me with this. 
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The Sports Authority, I think, builds - their own 

projects. They built a stadium. They probably-- Looking at 

your letterhead, you have pictures of it. 

MR. MULCAHY: Well, we supervised it, certainly. 

have contractors, obviously, but we supervised it. 

We 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: You have a picture of Monmouth 

Park. You inherited that; that was there before, but the 

Giants Stadium~ the Meadowlands, those· projects-- was the 

Sports Authority created first and then those projects built? 

Were you there during that period of time? 

MR. MULCAHY: During the Arena? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: During the Arena. 

MR. MULCAHY: I went there when it was a hole in the 

ground for the Arena . 

. ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: So you do, then, have a. 

construction section or division or group? 

MR. MULCAHY: No. We have a Director of Engineering 

and we have a construction manager. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Okay. Then I guess in January of 

1992, you were charged with two more projects -- the Rutgers 

Stadium and the Convention Hall in Atlantic City. They are 

directly under the Sports Authority? 

MR. MULCAHY: We are responsible. Well, there are 

different roles for the two places. In terms of Rutgers, we 

are responsible for the funding and the oversight of the 

project. Rutgers has, in-house, a construction staff, which we 

felt was very good. We worked with them in the selection of 

the bids and ·participated in the construction meetings. They 

take responsibility for on-site supervision of the job. 

In the case of Atlantic City, where we have oversight 

responsibility for the Atlantic City Convention Center 

Authority, it became clear that we had to hire a construction 

manager, as we have done on other major projects, i.e., the 

Arena. We had a construction manager there, as well as our 

68 



own person to protect the Authority. Frankly, that is the 

structure of what we have in Atlantic City. We have a Sports 

Authority ·construction person there. We have the Dishman 

(phonetic spelling) Company as a construction manager and we 

have biweekly construction meetings with the staff and the 

Construction Committee of the Board. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Okay, thank you. We wi 11 keep 

talking about that some more. Who is the construction manager 

down there? 

MR. MULCAHY: Joe Mendolia. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: 

you were Chairman? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: 

participate in his selection? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

Mr. Goodman, was he hired when 

Was it your responsibility to 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Did you know him before? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, I did not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: How did you come to meet him? 

MR. MULCAHY: I'll answer the question, Jerry. We 

receive resumes from a lot of people. We receive them from the 

public; we receive them from ads; we receive them f~om 

political leaders. In this particular case, Mr. Mendolia's 

name was presented to us by Mr. Salema. He presented. it to 

me. As I would do with anyone, I reviewed his credentials; I 

interviewed him incidentally, he , was responsible for the 

construction of three of the award-winning facilities at the 

Carnegie Center -- and we hired him. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Is there an architect down there? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. We inherited the architect. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Pardon me? 

MR. MULCAHY: We inherited the architect. 

MR. GOODMAN: What does that mean, .you "inherited" him? 
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MR. MULCAHY: The project had begun locally, and the 

project had been practically design~d when we took over. What 

we did when we took over was to br~ng in our own set of 

consultants. We broOght i~ Ellerbee Becket (phonetic 

spelling), who is one of the foremost designers of convention 

centers in the country. We brought in other consultants on 

specific areas, i.e., concessions, to look at the plans. We 

brought in a Convention Center Manager to look at the plans, to 

make sure before we went ahead that what we had was the proper 

product for the area and, in fact, we made several changes in 

the layout in the function area of the Convention Center. ·we 

did that on our own. Those were people we selected and that we 

paid to do that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Sounds "like to me, Mr. Mulcahy, 

that you are involved in this ·construction project a lot morep 

certainly, than in selecting the lead bond attorneys. 

MR. MULCAHY: I go to the construction. meetings · 

most of them. 

·City? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GI·BSON: Are they held down i,.n Atlantic 

MR. MULCAHY: Most of them. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: How often are they held? 

MR. MULCAHY:. They meet bimonthly normally. Usually 
we will· meet once in Atlantic City, once a month at M·onmouth, 

so it is halfway for all of us. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: So the architect with his plans 

that had been started-prior to your--

MR. MULCAHY:~ They had spent about $11 million on the 

architecture and plans up to that point. It made no sense for 

u~, when we reviewed it, to throw out the architect. What we 

tried-to do was make sure the plan we had was the best plan we 

coulq have. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: On Mr. Mendolia's qualifications, 

he was introduced to you by Mr. Salema? 



... 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Where had he been working before 

that? 

MR. MULCAHY: He had had a construction background all 

his life. Among other things, he had been responsible for 

three of the award-winning buildings at the Carnegie Center. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Was he working there when you 

hired him? 

MR. MULCAHY: No, he was not there. I would be happy 

to send his resume to the Committee. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Now, about the process of 

interviewing him--

MR . MULCAHY : I interviewed him, and I presented him 

to the Executive Committee, who also inter~iewed him. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: The Executive Committee is a 

portion of your Commission? 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: All right, I have no further 

questions, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Gibson. Mr. Russo? 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Thank you. Mr. Goodman, listening 

to the testimony, on several occasions Mr. Mulcahy referred to 

the 1992 legislation ·which brought tax dollar support. You 

started as Chairman when, again? 

1992. 

MR. GOODMAN: I believe it was either January- .... 

MR. MULCAHY: I think it was January 1991. 

MR. GOODMAN: It was either January or February of 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: So right about that time? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: 

involved now and, of course, 

9mount of experience as CEO--

Since there are tax dollars 

as Mr. Mulcahy has had a great 

He stated that the function, I 

guess -- maybe that is the term -- the function or the role of 
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the Authority has changed somewhat over the years. Is this 

actually -- nciw that there are public dollars here --.what you 

would term an independent Authority at this point, in your 

opinion? 

MR. GOODMAN: Well, I don't know what you mean by an 

independent Authority. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: This was brought up by Mr. Levine, 

and I am · really looking 
tr 

perspectively here. Maybe your 

opinion, as someone with less experience-- The reason I say 

this is that we term· it "independent Authority," and we have 

been throwing that term around here for several hours. Is this 

maybe now with the funding-- ls this just an agency? Maybe we 

shouldn't be so concerned about governmental input. 

MR. GOODMAN: I don't know that I have enough 

experience or enough ability to say whether this is aQ 

independent Authority, whether it is an agency, or whether it 

is a pseudo-independent Authority. 

ASSEMBLY?ttAN RUSSO: Or . a quasi-independent Authority 

perhaps? Let me ask Mr. Mulcahy. 

MR. MULCAHY: I testified to this before. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: First of all, in all the" time I have 

been there the practicality of whatever you term it is that you 

have the Governor's veto and you have the Attorney General and 

the Treasurer on the Board. To believe that you were going to 

go off on any course that was very different from where the 

administration wanted it to go would be ludictous. Obviously, 

I made it a point on major policy issues to discuss them with 

the Governor's Off ice, because I felt that was the role. How 

you define that in relation to an independent Authority, which 

is probably a legislative definition of what the Authority is, 

as opposed to something e~se, I don't know. 

Yes, we are . independent in the sense that we do not 

have Civil Service. We have probably 32 union locals in our 
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operation statewide. There are a lot of things that are 

different that we do thari the State bureaucracy; in fact, make 

the job significantly different. I think those bear on - the 

def ini ti on of an indepencjent Authority, as opposed to 

independent actions~- I mean, when the Authority first started, 

its original bonds had a moral pledge - of the State. 

Subsequently, there was a State guaranteed bond issue. I mean, 

to believe that you would go forth in significant actions 

without at least having informed the administration, is just 

not the way I would think you would proceed. 

So I think, really, you are dealing here with a 

question of semantics. I am not sure the term "independent 

Authority~-- A truly independent Authority would report to no 

one. We have never been in that position. So I think you may 

be dealing with an issue of semantics here and, frankly, a· 

question of judgment as to how much, or how little. Look, when 

you have a Governor with a veto and the Attorney General, you 

are not going to get very far out of line. 

Our agency is that way. Not all agencies have those 

things, but ours does. That is the practical reality of the 

thirtg. So I think the debate about independent may be a 

question of semantics, and less of an issue than, frankly, in 

reality it is. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: I didn't ask the question for that 

reason. I think yours is a legitimate answer, from your 

perspective especially, because I know during the past campaign _ 

there were statements made by now Governor-elect Whitman with 

regard to - privatization, etc., etc. on this issue. It is an 

interesting concept, especially whether it is an arm of the 

government, or whatever. Maybe you have some cotntnents on that. 

MR. MULCAHY: Do you mean on privatization? 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: I think there are--
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ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: That is not in my notes. I. am 

just saying that because you answered, and I think you gave .a 

very honest and expansive answer. 

MR. MULCAHY: I think there are functions that we can 

consider privatizing. It is something ·that we have looked at 

before. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: At the Sports Authority? 

MR.· MULCAHY: Yes. The difficuity in privatizing the 

entire complex is that normally when you look to buy a business 

and sell it, there are certain ratios of cash flow and earnings 

that are used to cover the debt service, and the role of this 

Authority has never been specifically that, although in early 

days when racing was doing well, we turned over some $60 

million in surplus to the State. If racing were doing that 

well, we would be doing the same thing now, but you have racin~ 

impacted by the casinos and the ·Lottery to the· tune of 56 

percent. 

You have a change in people's entertainment habits. 

You ·have had, in the last 20 years since we have been open, 

even a change in the-- I mean, if you just consider the 

concept of how many couples there are where both spouses are 

working, that changes their whole entertainment pattern. In 

fact, having sat through many focus groups, where ~e have sat 

down with people who have never been there, people who are 

occasional goers, people who ~o frequently, and asked them 

questions about what motivates them to go, what kinds of 

marketing you can do to make them go, you find out that they do 

not have a lot of time. They are looking for high impact when 

they go, so you try to design what you do. ·It is one of the 

reasons the casinos are so successful. There is a 16t of quick 

excitem~nt and they're gone and they have had that e~citement 

So you have one shot at these customers today. Unlike 

in '76 when we opened, the only garnbling around ·was to go to a 

racetrack. I recall the first time I ever went to a 

racetrack. My father took me when I was young to Monmouth 
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Park. It's different today. My kids, only because, they' re 
mine, go to a· racetrack, but they also go to the casinos on 

their own -- the ones who are old enough. 

But it is a fascinating discussion that really gets to 

the demographics of today, the society of today, and how these 

things all relate. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: With regard to the four bond 

issues and this would be a question for. both of you 

gentlemen-- With regard to the reinvestment the 

reinvestment of the proceeds -- were there any conversations or 

recommendations with regard to which firm should handle any 

reinvestment? Was that discussed with you, Mr. Goodman, by any 

administration member -- Mr. Salema, the Governor's Counsel, 

etc. -- o·r you, Mr. Mulcahy? 

MR. MULCADY: . It was discussed with me by our 

financial adviser, Cliff Goldman. My recollection is that we 

did what we thought was right. I think we took bids or did 

something else, but it was different than what happened in a 

couple of other cases I read in the papers. But we.did what we 

thought was the right thing to do. So there was a discussion 

on that issue with me. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Was that with regard to Lazard? 

MR. MULCAHY: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: No? 

MR. MULCAHY: No. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Mr. Goodman? 

MR. GOODMAN: It was not discussed with me by any 

member of the administration. My recollection is that I was 

involved in a discussion with Bob. 

question? 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Bob Mulcahy? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: With regard to the reinvestment 

MR. MULCAHY: How we did it, yes. 
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MR.· GOODMAN: How they did it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Mr. Lance, did you have a quick 
question? 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I have a question in the area we 

wer:e discusi:;ing just previously, Mr. Mulcahy, regarding horse 

racing. One of the papers I read is The Courier-News. Ray 

Bat~man had a column last week saying that he felt the 

demographics of horse racing are such that older people go to 

horse races. Is that accurate? 

MR. MULCAHY: By and large it is happening, although 

f rem some of the things we have . done in the last couple of 

years we have noticed a younger audience coming on the weekend 

nights. What we have attempted-- Look, I have been very 

outspoken on this issue and I cari send you a bunch of keynote 

speeches I have given around the country at various things. In 

essence ~hat I have said is, there are going to be fewer 

ttacks. Those that ·are able to produce a product are the ones 

that are going to survive. You. are going to have interactive 

TV with home betting and telephone betting and accounts. 

We have been able to build a separate afternoon crowd 

for simulcasting. We have the most complex simulcasting system 

of any track in the country right now, because we were in the 

forefront on this. We devised the original formu1a·s. It has 

seen an entirely different kind of business. 

I think there will always be horse racing. You are 

going to see it in a different form. It i~. going to take a 

form that is much more modern that the people in today's world 

of electronics can relate to. That is my vision. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: So you are attempting to--.. 

MR. MULCAHY: We are trying to be ahead of that curve, 
yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: 

exist in that regard? 
--overcome whatever problems may 
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MR. MULCAHY: That's right. It ~ill never be back 

where it was because you have too many other forms of gambling 

now competing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: I think the Leg is la tu re ought to 

be aw a re of · that when it i s asked , as it i s per i o d ic a 11 y , to 

increase the forms of ga~ing in this State--

MR. MULCAHY: No question. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: --as this Committee has been asked 

in recent times to do. 

MR. MULCAHY: I testified some years back when 

Governor Kean had a Commission on Gambling. I to1d Mt. 

Edwards, l guess after he was designated to head up a similar 

commission, that I had very specific thoughts about that, and I 

woul~ be happy to share them. 

ASSEMBLYMAN - LANCE: And, Mr. Goodman, do you have any 

further comments on the matter under discussion now? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, not unless you have a specific 

question. I don't have any specific comments. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you, Mr. Lance. Mr. Russo? 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Mr~ Goodman, I just want to ask a 

few other questions: You mentioned that you are a South Jersey 

person, and obviously you read The Inquirer, the courier Post,. 

and whatever, and, of course, some of us are from North Jersey 

and we do not read those papers much. I know I was quite 

surprised with the selection of the under~riters with regard to 

the $224 million bond issue. Now, I know from Mr. J;.,evine, 

unless you want to disagree-- I would assume.,...... I know you 

were at that meeting and cast a vote in favor of the list of 

those underwriters. 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: In particular with regard to 

Tri-State, because up where we are that is a big issue. It was 

front page on Sunday, I think March 7, in The Bergen Record, 
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especially when we talk about perceptions and 

contributions and things like that, which I tend---

campaign 

In fact, I 

100 percent agree with the comments you made, and Mr. Mulcahy 

made and Assemblyman Smith, because I have a bill to ban 

campaign contributions by bond dealers and bond counsel. I 

think that will improve the system greatly. 

But, with regard to Tri-State, at that m~eting was the 
!;' 

status of Tri-State and the history of Tri~State discussed? 

MR. GOODMAN: No, it was not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Were you aware of the censure of 

Tri~state and the fact that they had not -- as Chairman -- th~t 

they had not even responded to the RFP? 

been 

MR. GOODMAN: I was not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: You were not? 

MR. GOODMAN: No. When I say I 

brought up at the meeting, but 

recollection of that discussion. So what 

was not, it may have 

I don't have any 

I am saying to you 

is,. it may have been said, but I have no recollection of it 

being said. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Because I _know Mr. Mulcahy before 

stated that he had gotten a call from -- it might have been the 

Governor's Counsel; I . think it was the Governor's Counsel -­

with regard to some tangential issues,· and one of the firms 

that -might have been mentioned was Tri-State. Did you get a 

call like that from either the Governor's Couns~l--

MR. GOOOMAN: I did not. 

ASSEM.BLYMAN RUSSO: --or Mr. Salema? 

MR. GOODMAN: .I did not. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: So the first time you saw 

Tri-State on that list was when you saw that list at the 

meeting? 

MR. GOODMAN: That is correct. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO:. Did you take any action after 

casting that vote when I assumed you learned the problems with 

regard to Tri-State? 
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MR. GOODMAN: No, I did not take any action, but, 

frankly, you would have to refresh my memory with regard to the 

problems with Tri-State, because today I sit here and I am not 

knowledgeable about Tri-State. 

MR. MULCAHY: I think it would be fair to say this, 

Assemblyman: Knowing that the Commissioner is on the Board, if 

that information was there, I don't think any of them would 

have voted for them. I'm not sure of the timing of the 

information. My recollection is, just from what I have heard---

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Right. 

MR. MULCAHY: --is that whatever came out about them, 

came out subsequent to the day the bond issue was sold. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: A point of information: Does 

anybody know what the timing was on. that censure versus the 

timing of the censure before~~ 

MR. BOLEN (Assembly Majority Staff):· The censure was 

before--

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: The · censure was prior to, and it 

was against the original firm, Mr. Booth's firm. He was the 

one who was censured by the National Association of Security 

Dealers. He was the one who was prohibited from ever being 

involved again through the NASO. 

What was 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: I understand that was afterward. 

the date? 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

ASSEMBLYMAN 

RUSSO: 

SMITH: 

RUSSO: 

KAMIN: 

Well, the RFP, Bob, was out before. 

Before the censure? 

The RFP was out before~­

Tr i-State--

MR. BOLEN: He was censured as part of his other firm, 

New Jersey Capital Markets, which was in existence before 

Tri-State-.,. 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: You' re saying the indi vi du a 1 was 

censured, as well as their company. 

MR. BOLEN: Both. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN 

Capital Markets was, 

the RFP. Then they 

created. 

KAMIN: Right, both. The New Jersey 

in -fact, the firm that had responded to 

were dissolved; ·then this new thing was 

ASSEMBLYMAN SMITH: Tri-State. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: . Tri-State, and they had not 

responded to the RFP, but they were included. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: The reason I asked the question 

was not to embarrass Mr. Goodman -- I. think you can hear that 

from my tone -- but prospectively, maybe we should _be looking 

at legislation that would require that Commissioners can only 

cast votes if there is an affirmative statement, or whatever, 

on their agenda that not only has the RFP been sent, but that 

there has been actual bidding and a response, etc. -- that kind 

of thing. That is what I am talking about. 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr .. Assemblyman, I would conjecture -­

and Mr. Goodman can support or negate this -- that if that kind 

of information was before the Board, they would never have been 

apptoved. Do you agree, Jerry? 

MR. GOODMAN: I agree. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: rn your opinion, Mr. Mulcahy, 

would the comment that I just - made be appropriate, that that 

type of information--

MR. MULCAHY: Yes, absolutely. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: --should certainly be in front of 

the CEO ~- and it wasn't in front of you? 

MR. MULCAHY: I concur. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: You also, Mr. Goodman? 

MR. GOODMAN: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Thank you. 

MR. MULCAHY: We are trying to do the right thing. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: No, no. I think you can hear from 

my tone that no one is trying to--

MR. MULCAHY: Absolutely. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: This is a prospective issue .here. 

MR. MULCAHY: No question. Anybody in that situation 

shouldn't be on it. 

ASSEMBLYMAN RUSSO: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Tied in with that on .this . bond 

issue, the reinvestments of the proceeds-- That was not 

competitively bid? As I understood you, you were not sure. 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, I can't answer .that 

question. It is vague in my mind. I remember a discussion 

with Mr. Goldman to do what we thought was right at the time, 

which is not what happened in a couple of other cases. I think 

he took quotes. I can't be sure. You would have to ask him. 

I remember a discussion on the issu.e. I remember telling him, 

"Let's do it the best way," but it is just not clear in my mind. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: In the previous bond issues, Mr-;­

Mulcahyr that you were involved with, there was never this pool 

holdbacking of pool allocations. Did that ever happen in-­

MR. MULCAHY: We had a smaller syndicate. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Right, but as far as;...- In this 

case, it was about 15 percent of the total dollars that was 

held back and then became, like, a discretionary account? 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman,· I can't answer, because I 

just don't know without going back and looking. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: But to your knowledge it was not 

done in the previous issues that were handled by the Sports and 

Exposition Authority? 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't know. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Okay. 

MR. MULCAHY: I just don't want to say because I don't 

know, without looking. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: If you wouldn't mind, on that 

particular point, if you could communicate back to the Chair, 

that would be of help. We do care about that because this, to 

my knowledge, was the first time that was done. 
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MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, would you just give me the 

question that you want answered? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: The holdback on pool.allocations-­

MR. MULCAHY: Yes? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: 

about 15 percent? 

In this particular case it was 

MR. MULCAHY: Yes. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: 

refinancing and the 1.8 billion? 

MR. MULCAHY: Okay. 

On . the general obligation 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: I just wanted to know if it was. 

done at the Sports Authority in the past with your other issues 

-- the holdback. 

MR. MULCAHY: If this holdback was done? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Yes. 

MR. MULCAHY: Okay. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Because under those circumstances, 

the firm--

MR. MULCAHY: I'll get you the answer. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

Assemblywoman Farragher? 

ASSEMBLYWOMAN FARRAGHER: Nothing further. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Anyone else? Mr. Lance, and then 

I have a couple more questions, very briefly. 

Lance? 

Assemblyman 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Yes, Mr. Chairman, and through the 

Chair-- Just to follow up on Assemblyman Russo on the 

Tri-State matter, I think both of you have testified that if 

you had known the situation, the Board would not hav·e selected 

them -- so be it -- and that neither of you was the person who 

had chosen Tri-State. Somebody chose Tri-State. Do each of 

you believe that whoevet chose Tri-State had the responsibility 

to inform you, Mr. Mulcahy, and to inform you and your Board, 

Mr.· Goodman, of the true situation·regarding Tri-State? 
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MR. MULCAHY: If an~body knew it, they certainly did. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: in .the subjunctive, if they knew. 

it, you believe, Mr~ Mulcahy, that that information should have 

been submitted to you? 

MR. MULCAHY: Absolutely, without question. 

ASSEMBLYMAN LANCE: Mr. Goodman, do you agree with 

that? 

MR. GOODMAN,: Certainly. 

ASSEMBLYMAN. LANCE: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: I have just two-- Yes, Mr. 

Mulcahy? 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, I am reminded that the 

pool allocation came out of the State general obligation bond 

sale. I am not sure we have pool allocation even on the~e, but 

I will get the answer to both these and the past. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

The final two points I have-- I am back to the hiring 

of the Atlantic City construction manager. I didn't hear the 

answer to the question: Were there others interviewed for the 

position? 

MR. MULCAHY: There were none, no one else. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: There were no others, even though 

within your network.there are other construction managers that 

could have been considered? 

MR. MULCAHY: We could have advertised. In addition 

to that, we have a Di rector of Engineering and a Di rector of 

Construction, both of whom came out of the Port Authority _;... 

having done either the World Trade Tower or the second level of 

the George Washington Bridge -- who work for us, whom I use in 

an oversight capacity, to leave it there. But it is a long 

distance for them to go. We need somebody on-site every day. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Yes. Do either of you know 

whether or not Mr. Mendolia is related to Elizabeth Mendolia, 

one of Governor Floria's former congressional staff members? 
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know. 

MR. MULCAHY: I have subsequently heard that. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: 

MR . GOODMAN : I 

Do you know, Mr. Goodman? 

don· t have any knowledge; 

MR. MULCAHY: I mean, I have heard that said. 

I do not 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Or to Mr. John ·Mendolia, who is 

more of a friend -- an associate of Mr. Salema's? Do either of 
.... 

you know that? 

MR. MULCAHY: I don't know who John Mendolia is. 

MR. GOODMAN: And I have no idea ei the.r. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: So Elizabeth Mendolia is what you 

have heard, but you don't know that? 

MR. MULCAHY: Is that his ·mother? 

. ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Wife . 

MR. GOODMAN: . I know nothing about Elizabeth Mendolia;­

and I know nothing about John Mendolia. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: They are somehow related. I am 

not sure it's his wife, but there was some relat.ionship there. 

I don't know either; that is why I asked the question. 

Gentlemen, you have been very patient, very 

cooperative.· On behalf of Chairman Frelingh~ysen and the 

members of this Committee, we thank you for your participation 

today. 

MR. MULCAHY: Mr. Chairman, we thank you for the tone 

of the meeting, the tone ·of the questions. Obvious1y, if we 

can be helpful in improving the process, then it benefits 

everyone. I think both Mr. Goodman and myself-- It is 

consistent with what we stand for. It is certainly consistent 

with the 20 years I have been on the State scene, and 30 years 

in public life. I am more than happy to try to be helpful. 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. Mr. Chairman, Mr. 

Mulcahy, the Office of Legislative-- Yes, Mr. Goodman? 

MR. GOODMAN:. I· just would concur with Mr. Mulcahy, so 

you can bring this meeting to an quick end. 
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ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Thank you. 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON: Mr. Chairman? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Yes, Mr. Gibson? 

ASSEMBLYMAN GIBSON:. Would it be in order for them to 

make some recommendations as to what might improve the process? 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Absolutely. I think it is the 

Office of Governor~elect Whitman, 28 West State Street, Eighth 

Floor. There is a transition team over there. Besides that; 

this Committee would find your recommendations of immense help, 

as well. 

MR . MULCAHY : 

recommendations to you. 

I think we could probably forward some 

ASSEMBLYMAN KAMIN: Wonderful. 

To the members of the Office of Legislative Services 

for their help in putting this meeting together today, we are 

appreciative, and to all of you for attending. 

Thank you. This meeting stands adjourned~ 

(MEETING CONCLUDED) 
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OPENING STATEMENT OF ROBERT E. MULCAHY III 

PRESIDENT AND C. E. 0. · 

NEW JERSEY SPORTS AND EXPOSITION AUTHORITY 

NEW JERSEY GENERAL·ASSEMBLY APPROPRIATIONS COMMITTEE HEARING 

DECEMBER 1, 1993 

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to come before 

you again and, of course, I again appreciate the courtesy of 

you allowing me these opening remarks. Over the past few 

years this Committee has taken a rightful interest in the 

bonding practices of this State and of the· Sports Authority. 

You and we have truly become partners in pu.blic policy and 

today for the third time since yoll assumed the Chair, I stand 

ready to answer the Committee's questions. 

Much was raised at the October hearinq of the Committee, 

and I am sure that you have questions pertaining to that but 

little was said about the bonding of the Sports Authority. 

Today I am presenting important independent research to you 

that was compiled on our 1992 and 1993 bond issues. 

Now, let me get right to the numbers. I have provided the 

Committee with a thoroughly 'esearched analysis of the 



~ost effJciency of the three major Sports Authority bond 

issues of 1992. Securities Data Company tracks all issues 

nationally. Here is the extraordinary positive result we 

. achieved.· 

By careful cost oversight the Sports and Exposition 

Authority saved $2.25 million dollars in fees compared to 

the national average of similar bond issues. Look at the 

chart labelled 1992 Sports Authority Gross Spreads that is 

attached to my testimony. Let me state again that this 

information was compiled by the Independent Securities Data 

Company. 

For the 1992 Series A Sports Complex refinancing, .when 

compared to Stadium/Theater/Convention Center issues 

nationally, the Authority's spread (or issuance costs) were 

$725,760 less than the national average. Fully 33 national 

issues had higher spreads and 12 had lower. 

For the Atlantic City Luxury Tax bonds, the savings 

below the national average were $725,868. An incredible 29 

out of 33 such iss\les had higher spreads. Finally, the 

convention center series c bonds saved $802,162 off the 

national average ~$ 125 out of 144 such issues h~d higher 

spreads. 
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I greatly appreciate the Committee giving us the 

opportunity to present the independent standard industry 

research showing that the New Jersey Sports and Exposition 

Authority completed three of the most cost effective bond 

_issues in the history of this or any other State in 1992. 

This is not politics. This financing is good public 

policy, prudent financial stewardship, and a solid fiscal 

winner :that is providing lastinq benefits around the state 

for a generation to come. 

The bond issues of the Sports and Exposition Authority, 

beginninq with the Series A debt refinancing which we 

discussed before you inMarch of 1992 achieved four clear 

objectives: 

1) cost effectiveness, 2) savings of millions of public 

dollars, 3) fulfilling the Legislative mandate to the 

Authority, and 4) having a continuing positive i•pact on the 

psyche and economy New Jersey for a generation to come. 

outstanding work by the Sports Authority's legal 

committee and financial advisers kept our issuance costs 

down, this Committee has the full details of those numbers 

from our_prior app~arances, in addition to the nationwide 

numbers I have provided for you. For the public and the 
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Authority, _present value savinqs from the refinancinq of 37 

million dollars and long-term savings of 140 million are 

being.achieved. I was deeply qratified by the stronq public 

words of support from members of this Committee,_ from both 

sides of the aisle, over the· results of that issueo 

The Legislature presented us with a mandate in January 

of 1992, and I believe we are fulfilling it in laudable 

fashion. Finally, in the face of a lingering dull national 

economy, New Jersey is investinq in its future throuqh the 

Sports Authority in a coordinated effort to protect the 

Authority's finances, prepare Atlantic City for the future, 

and allow our State University to not only improve the 

quality of campus life but to maximize its potential to 

create revenue. 

Ladies and gentlemen of the Committee, I have stated to 

you before, and I feel even more strongly today that the 

bond issue refinancing and statewide project development by 

the Authority in the past two years is nothing short of a 

grand slam home run for the taxpayers of New Jersey. 

We are again adding excitement, economic impact, 

entertainment, and even a little eqo to the State. The tool 

to accomplish and nourish these ends wa$ the successful 
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series of Sports.Authority bond issues, known as Series A, 

B, & c, which provided for the refinancinq of hiqh interest 

debt, and provided the funds for the Atlantic City and 

Rutgers projects·. 

At those 1992 hearinqs, in specific detail, and aqain at 

our budqet hearinq this May, we reported on the successful 

transactions to the Committee that.good timinq and good 

planninq allowed us ••• with your support ••• to qive New 

J'ersey ••• a 37 million dollar·saving in pres6!nt value~terms, 

and over one hundred and forty million in interest savings, 

by refinancing our high interest rate debt. This was 

accomplished with an overwhelminqly positive reaction from 

Wall Street. Further, the issuance costs were extremely 

competitive with municipal issues around the nation in fact 

for three issues they were over 2 million dollars below the 

national average. 

This debt refinancing received broad bipartisan 

leqislative sponsorship and support. The financial 

community, as witnessed by the well documented cost benefits 

and excellent interest rate terms it supplied, heartily 

endorsed our handling of the issues. Finally, this public 

policy garnered widespread editorial support. The 
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star-Ledger, for example, called it quote, a "good deal" for 

the Authority, the State and the taxpayer. And you, ladies 

and gentlemen, were the ones that made it possible. 

At your Committee budqet hearinqs in May of this year we 

reviewed the successful outcomes and tremendous taxpayer 

benefit that has resulted from the series of Sports 

Authority bond issues that followed the initial major 

refinancinq. In a staqnant national economy thousands of 

construction jobs are being created in New Brunswick and 

Atlantic City. From these construction projects New Jersey 

receives economic and quality of life benefits for a 

qeneration to come. Jobs, economic impact, excitement, and 

statewide opportunities· for growth are the result of the new 

era of interlinked cooperation among the Sports Authority, 

the Legislature, and the Executive branch. 

By working together toward a common goal through the 

Sports Authority, tbe Leqislature and the Executive branches 

are del~vering savinqs,·stability, jobs, and opportl.U1ity to 

people, places, and institutions around the State of New 

Jerseyo. 
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As an independent state authority with the State 

Treasurer and Attorney General serving on the board and the 

Governor having veto power of our minutes, there has been 

direct Executive branch involvement in Sports Authority 

financing since day one with Governor Cahill. 

over the years, the Legislature has gotten more deeply 

involved in the Authority's mission, from the authorizing of 

the Monmouth park purchase through the State Aquarium 

project, and culminating in the 1992 legislation which 

·allowed for the refinancing and construction projects. We 

now present a business plan to the joint budget oversight 

committee and are called to budget hearings. The 

cooperation and oversight which now exist among the 

Authority, the Legislature, and the Executive branch is 

certainly not new, but it does continue to mature. Clearly, 

the record shows the enormous good that has come through the 

Authority to the people of the State in the past three years 

because of it. 

As a former elected official, Cabinet officer, and 

· gubernatorial· chief of staff, I have testified and appeared 

before legislative committees over three different decades. 

In fact, I have become something of a reqular before you. 
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Yesterday, the Commissioners of the Sports Authority 

approved the competitive biddinq of the refinancing of.the 

Senior Lien Bonds of the Authority. This simple transaction 

will net the Authority, and the public, substantial savinqs as 
Ii"' 

interest rates have remained low. 

Finally, Mr. Chairman, my public service has· tauqht me 

that the process of cooperation, oversiqht, and debate of 

public policy between and amonqthe various branches of 

qovernment is an essential dynamic to deliverinq the best 

possible services to the taxpayer. I look forward to aqain 

answerinq your questions in the respectful manner which has 

always marked our relationship. 

Thank you aqain, Mr. Chairman, for allowing me the time 

for this statement. 
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1992 SPOIHS AUlUOHHY GUOSS SPll£ADS 

SPORTS COMPL£X LUXURY lAX 
Sl:RICS A SERIES A 

DATE 2/26/92 10/2H/92 
AMOUNT 224.000,000 168,025.000 

SPREAD $10.05 $8.99 
SECURITY DATA CATEGORY ST ADBUM, ETC. CONVEINflON ClA. 

1992 INAlnONAl AVG. $13.29 $13.31 
INJSEA AS % Of NAT"IL AVG. 76.6% 67.5% 

$ llESS THAN NA'f'l AVG $725.760 $725,R68 

I WITH IHIGHEH SPREADS 33 29 
I WDTH O..OWIER SPREADS• 12 4 

PIERCENTILE NA TOOINALl Y 28%. 15% 

•Two issues ware discarded from Soadium Category and one from Convention Category 

" as non-comparabOes. Other Included issues may 11011 be c0tnpall'ables. 

)( 

CONVENTION CENTER 
SERIFS C (VAHIABLE) 

l 1/12/92 
209,990,000 

$1.84 
VAROABLE RATE 

$5.66 
32 .!i'X. 

$801, Ui2 

11.fi 

19 
I 4•Ka 
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Stadiumsflbeaters/CoD11ventfion Center Issues 
1992 

Sale Amount Negot/ Gross Mgnmt Underw Take 
()ate (Smlls) Issuer Issue Description Com pet Spread Fee Fee Expenses Down 

12/16/92 6.305 Westchester Co lndust Dev Agcy Civic Facility Rev Bonds N 15.00 
12/16192 8.995 NYC lndust Dev Agency Civic Facility Rev Bonds N 15.00 
12/18/92 868.849 Meuopolilan Pier & Expo Auth McConnick Pl Expansion Bds N I0.53 
12/11/92 9.497 Pasadena Community Faes Dt #I Special Tax Bonds N 27.50 
12/09/92 ·10.800 Dade Co-Florida Pro Sports Franchise Fae Tax Bds N 6.22 
82/07/92 0.850 Blaine-Washington, Unltd Tax GO Bonds N 12.50 
12/07/92 2.500 St Louis Land Clear Redev Auth Lease Revenue Bonds N HU>O 
82/04/92 14.000 Spokane Public Facilities Corp Hotel/Motel & Sales Tax Bds N 14.70 2.850 ' 0.25 5.35 6.250 
12/02/92 21.070 North Charleston-South Carolina Certificates of Participation N 13.00 
11/30/92 62.400 St Louis ll1dustrial Dev Auth Industrial Rev Rd Bonds N 20.00 
11/25/92 18.805 Binningbam-jefferson Civ Ctr Au Ref & Cap Ouday Spec Tax Bds N 12.00 
11/13/92 849.825 California Statewide Comm Dev Au Lease Revenue Bonds N 11.19 - - - -
11/12192 209.990 New Jersey Sports & Expo Auth State Contrac.t Bonds N 1.84 
11/04/92 25.000 Lansing Tax Increment fin Auth Tax Increment Bonds N 12.00 

~ I 1/04/92 6.570 Duarte Public Financing Auth Certificates of Participation N 17.50 

~ 10/29/92 44.945 San Antonio-Texas Taxable Tax/Stadium Rev Ref Bds N 3.00 
10/28/92 168.025 New Jersey Sports & Expo Auth Convention Center Luxury Bonds N 8.99 0.860 - 0.88 7.250 
10/09/92 9.435 Southfield Building Authority Building Auth Refunding Bonds N n.oo 
09/2'2192 6.915 IBscambia Co-Florida Tourist Development Revenue Bds N I0.00 
09/17/92 40.000 Cuyahoga Co-Ohio Development Rev Bonds N 6.02 2.750 - 1.02 2.250 
09/17/92 1.520 BBBsworda Public Building Comm Revenue Bonds N 27.50 
09/16192 20.92S Mynle Beach Public facs Corp Convention Ctr Certs of Part N 82.SO 2.250 - 2.75 7.50() 

:n 
08125/92 2.490 Chino HiUs-California Certificates of Participalion c I I .OS - - - -
08/17/92 A.375 Lakeville Hsg & Redev Auth Ice Arena lease Rev Bds N 20.00 
08/13/92 42.865 Minneapolis-St Paul Met CounciD Sports Faes Ref Rev Bonds N 9.25 
08/D 1/92 13.000 !Longmont-Colorado GO Civic Cemer Bonds c 8.89 - 1.66 LO 6.230 
08/B 1/92 17.965 Sall Lake City Redev Agency Jr lien Tax Increment Bonds N I0.66 
07/29/92 4.045 IBnciniw-Califomia Certificates of Participation c 6.63 - - - .. ·.: ~~ .. 

07/16192 48.615 Miami Sports & Exhibition Auth Special Obligation Rev Bonds N 9.80 
07/08/92 41.000 Escondido Jt Powers Fin Auth Lease Revenue Bonds N 10.25 
06/15/92 2.330 Muskegon Building Authority Building Auth Refunding Bonds c ·15.0<) 
06/10/92 9.700 Dallas-Texas Comb Tax & Rev Certs of Oblig c 9.93 - 2.27 I.I 6.560 
06/09/92 ll35.000 Arlingwn Spons Faes Dev Aud·• Sales Tax Rev At Rte Notes N 7.93 
05128/92 4S.480 · NYC lndust Dev Agency Civic facility Rev Bonds N 12.31 
05/05192 I.SOS Bullock Co Developmem Auth Refunding Revenue Bonds I N 20.00. 

Source: Securities Data Company Page 1. 
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Stadiumsffheaters/Convention Center Issues 
U992 

Salle Amount-- Negotl Gross Mgmnt Underw Take 
Date ($ mlls) llss_.er llssue Description Comped Spread Fee Fee !Expenses Down 

04/29/92 1.625 Pierre-South Dakota Sales Tax Revenue Bonds N 22.29 
04/21/92 14.350 Tupelo-Mississippi Cenificates of Participation c 27.00 - 6.24 O.lJ 19.860 
04/02/92 299.985 Orange Co-Florida Tourist Dev Tax Rev Bonds N 8.34 
03/25/92 65.760 Metropolitan Service District GO Refunding Bonds N 7.51 - - - -
03/20/92 182.120 Metropolitan Pier & Expo Aulh Dedicated State Tax Rev Bm~ds N I0.33 1.000 0.25 1.93 7. 150 
03/18/92 4.500 Iowa Finance Aulhorily Small Business Dev Ref Rev Bond N 24.00 
03/1'2/92 163.669 M~sacbusetts Convention Ctr Au Hynes Convention Ctr Ref Bonds N 9.17 0.920 - O.K 7.450 
02/28/92 7.670 Palo Alto-California Certificates of Participation N 12.50 - - - -
02/26/92 224.000 New Jersey ~p'orts & Expo Auth State Contract Bonds N I0.05 1.700 - 0.88 7.470 
02/19/92 11.965 Fort Myers-Florida Taxable Improvement Rev Bonds N 13.62 
02118/92 0.780 Ocean Shores-Washington Unltd Tax GO Conven Ctr Ref Boi N 20.51 
02113/92 B00.274 San Francisco Redev Agency Le~e Revenue Bonds N ll.48 0.850 - l.2KK 9.350 
OB/16192 4.465 Kansas City Munic Assist Corp Leasehold Rev Ref Bonds N 21.33 
Oll/09/92 92.777 Anaheim-California Certificates of Panicipalion N 9.50 

~ 
~ 

1992 Average Gross Spread= 13.17 

-.f, 

", ... ~· r, 

Source: SecuritDes Oata Company Page2 





' -. )( 

.... 

Convention Center Issues 
1992 

Sale 
Date 

Amount 
($ mils)· Issuer 

Source:· Securities Data Company 

Issue DescriplJon 

Page 2. 

Negol/ 
Com pet 

Gross 
Spread 

Mgmnt 
!Fee 

• 

Underw 
Fee Expenses ll>owo 
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Negotoated Variable· Rate Issues 
]992 

'• j\,,.•iJ 

Sade A mound Gross Mg11~ut Und~rw .Take, 
($mils) · Issuer ISsue Descuiptlon Spread ft,ee Fee Expenses Down· 

12/31/92 145.000 Pennsylvruaia Economic Dev Fin Au Solid Wasle Disposal Rev Bds 7.25 3.(K)() - 1.15 2.500 
12/16/92 93.400 Dndiana Heallh Fae Fin Aulh Hospilal Revenue Bonds 3.35 - - - l'~.~J 
12/14/92 175.000 Chula Vista-California , Industrial Dev Rev Bonds 3.99 
12/11/92 45.970 New Jersey Economic Dev Audi Economic Growth Bonds 12.50 
12/10/92 357.000 Nebraska Higher Ed Loan Prog Inc Senior Lien Nt.>lcs 11.80 
12/07/92 100.000 Ohio Air Quality Dev Authority Air Quality Develop Rev Bds 4.IO 
12/04/92 568.455 New York-New York General Obligation Bomls 7.70 1.000 - 0.35 6.350. 

.,.:! 

12/01/92 50.000 Colorado Student Oblig Bond Auth Taxable S1udent Loan Rev Bds 5.90 
11/30/92 73.600 Nashville-Davidson Me1ro H&E Bd Hospital Revenue Bonds 7.(K) 1.000 - 2.0 4.000 
11/24/92 56~000 Halifax Co Indus Dev Aulh Pollution Control Revenue Bds 3.75 - - - ; ~ '; ;_~ r 

11n3192 38.900 Tennessee· GOBANs 1.76 
11/18/92. 95.000 San Francisco Redev Agency Var Rae Multi-Frun Hsg Ref Bds 3.95 
11/17/92 37.300 Maricopa Co IPollution Con Corp PCR Refunding Bonds 2.00 0.350 - 0.4 1.250 I 

' 11/12/92 209.990 New Jersey Spons & Expo Audi State Contract Bonds 1.84 - - - ;, ' ··~: ! ~ ! . «.. 11/82/92 28.000 Sl Charles Parish-Louisiana Pollution Control Rev Bonds 3.65 
~ 11/D 1/92 25.000 Winstora-Salem-North Carolina Taxable Cens of Participation 7.50 

11/04/92 30.200 Ohio State University Var Rte Dem Gen Receipts Bds 2.84 0.500 - 1.09 l.25Q 
1on9192 69.000 Orange Co-California Apt Develop Rev Ref Bonds 4.14 
1ons192 JD.250 Beaver Co Industrial Dev Audi . Pollution Control Rev Ref Bds 3.75 
BOn7/92 J7.73S Illinois Health Facilities Aulh Revenue Bonds 9.75 
aon6/92 S4.200 Hillsborough Co Ind Dev Auth Pollution Cntrl Rev Ref Bds 3.95 
1on2192 111.9no New York-New York General Obligation Bonds 7.45 0.890 - 0.92. s.64tL 
1on2192 126.000 New York-New York General Obligation Bonds 7.45 0.890 - 0.92 5.640. 

. ~ . ~ ! l • 

I0/22/92 75.000 New Yorl,-New York General Obligation Bonds 7.45 0.890 ., - 0.92 5.640 
10/15/92 100.000 NYC Municipal Water Finance Auth Adj Rte Water & Sewer Rev Bds 3.90 1 .. 000 - 0.4 2.500 
10/14/92 29.040 Santa Clara Co Housing Authority Multi-Fam Housing Ref Bds I0.00 
D0/13/92 SJ.400 Beaver Co Industrial Dev Aulh Pollution Control Rev Ref Bds 4.48 
10/12/92 9n.ooo Newport Beach-California Var Rte Demand Rev Bonds 1.50 
I0/12192 60.830 Geisinger Aulhority Health System Revenue Bonds 9.50 
10/08/92 90.000 Massachusetts Ind finance Agency Pollution Control Ref Bds 2.50 - - - ....,.,,. -·>-41oc .. ~. ••. ...;. • • 

80/08/92 141R.600 San Diego Co Reg Transp Comm Sec~:md Sr Sales Tax Rev Bds 3.02 . 0.850 - 0.92:. u50···, 
" I0/01/92 26.400 NYS Environmental Faes Corp Solid Waste Disposal Bonds 4.50 - - - '".' 

' ; 

09/30/92 5000.000 Califomia Various :RANs 1.42 
09n9192 .34.000 Ascension Parish-Louisiana · PCR Refunding Bonds 4.00 
Q9n5J92 266.850 !Louisiana Offshore Tenninal Aull• Deepwater Pon· Ref Rev Bohds 5.92 

Source: Securities IOata Company Page 1 
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Negotiated Variable Rate Issues 
1992 

Sale 
Date 

'09/25/92 
09/24/92 
09/23/92 
09/23/92 
09/23/92 
09/17/92 
09/17/92 
09/17/92 
09/15/92 
09/14/92 
09/10/92 
09/10/92 
09/02/92 
09/0l/92 
08/25/92 
08/21/92 
08/19/92 
08/06/92 
07/29/92 
07/24/92 
07/22/92 
07/15/92 
07/07/92 
07/07/92 
07/06/92 
06/30/92 
06/29/92 
06/26/92 
06/26/92 
06/25/92 
06/25/92 
06/25/92 
06/25/92 
06/25/92 
06/24/92 

Amount 
($molls) 

118.615 
30.000 

1000.000 
122.373 
182.762 
139.000 
135.000 
40.000 

204.270 
11.000 
31.000 
60.000 
61.900 
98.500 
43.000 
78.500 
43.500 

269.000 
40.000 
30.000 
28.700 
35.240 
52.330 
30.000 
50.000 
42.895 
28.600 
76.285 
60.000 
80.000 
95.270 

280.605 
84.200 
25.000 

112.070 

Issuer 
San Diego-California 
Maysville-Kentucky 
New Jersey 
Chicago-Illinois 
New Jersey ~conomic Dev Aud1 
Michigan Slate Housing Dev Aul11 
Denver-Colorado 
Cuyahoga Co-Ohio 
Rhode Island Hsg & Mtg Fin Corp 
Missouri St Env & Energy Res Au · 
Jefferson Co-Kentucky 
Trimble Co-Kentucky 
Orange Co Muni Water Da 
Orange Co Sanitation Dt #I 2 & 3 
Clark Co .. Arkansas 
Roanoke Industrial Dev Audl 
NYC lndust Dev Agency 
Student Loan Funding Corp 
California Higher Ed Loan Auth 
Minnesota Higher F.d Coord Board 
Missouri H & E Faes Authority 
Nonh Carolina Ed facs Fin Agcy 
Dade Co-Florida 
California PC Finance Auth 
Lee Co Hosp Board of Directors 
De Kalb Co Housing Authority 
Indiana Development Fin Auth 
Nevada Housing Division 
North Dakota 
Maine State Housing Authority 
NYS Mortgage Agency 
NYS Mortgage Agency 
Florida Housing finance Agency 
Maine State Housing Authority 
Rhode Island Hsg & Mtg Fin Corp 

Source: Securities Data Company 

bu~.::·.(': ~ 

Issue DescriptJcm 

Industrial Dev Rev Rd Bonds 
Solid Waste Disp Faes Bonds 
TRANs 
GO Tender Notes 
Economic Recovery Fund Bonds 
Rental Housing Revenue Bds 
Airport System Rev Bonds 
Development Rev Bonds 
Homeownership Opportunity Bonds 
Environmental Imp Rev Ref Bds 
Pollution Control Rev Bonds 
Pollution ControB Rev Bonds 
Certificates of Participation 
Certificates of Participation 
Solid Waste Disposal Bonds 
Hospilal Revenue Ref Bonds 
Industrial Develop Rev Bds 
Revenue Notes 
Var Rte Student loan Rev Ref Bds 
Var Rte Revenue Bonds 
Health Fae Refunding Rev Bonds 
Revenue Bonds 
Aviation Revenue Refunding Bonds 
Pollution Comrol Revenue, Bonds 
Hospital Revenue Bonds 
Single Family Mtg Rev Bonds 
Industrial Development Bonds 
Single Family Pirog Var Rte Bonds 
SingDe fam Mtg Program IBds 
Mortgage Purchase Bonds 
Homeowner Mtg R~v Bds 
1 lomcowncr Mtg Rev Bonds 
I lomc Ownership Rev Bds 
Mortgage Purchase Bonds 
Homeownership Opportunity Bonds 

Page2 

Gross 
Spread 

9.94 
4.48 
1.25 
U5 
9.8:1 
4.70 
4.88 
6.02 
9.01 
3.80 
4.12 
4.12 
9.76 
5.50 
5.00 
7;67 
2.33 
5.52 
2.75 
0.50 
1.25 
5.50 
5.20 

I0.13 
2.50 
1.88 
1.00 
2.13 
3.24 
1.64 
1.66 
1.66 
2.57 

.12.50 
0.75 

• 

Mgmnt Underw Take 
Fee Fee Expenses Down 

1.250 
2.750 
1.100 

0.100 

1.500 

1.280 

1.13 
1.02 
0.72 

· •... \ ~ 

i'.5(~, 
:i,~~o 
7 .190 

~. ' I 

1.46 6.2IO 

i > -: . . 

0.400 

. ;. ~, 

2.45 1.250 
.' -~ .. 

0.88 1.250 

:r,;; 

........ -
~ ... ~· •i' ·-

(' ;--

· '>:2~r,. , · rnso' 
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Negotiated! Variablle Rate Issues 
! t>.ti.' •· 

1992 -Slllle Amount Gross Mgmnt Underw --Take 
Date· ($mils) - JS$11ner Issue DescrlpUon Spread Fee Fee Ex pen~ Down 

06/24/92 25.000· Rhode Island Hsg & Mtg Fin Corp Homeownership Opportunity Bds 0.75 
06/24/92 50.000 Ddaho Housing Agency Single Fam Mortgage Var Rte Bds 1.00 
06/24192 87.200 Wi5consin Housing Finance Auth Homeownership Revenue Bonds 2.02 
06/24/92 37.000 Huntsville Health Care Aulh Health Care Fae Rev Bonds 4.50 
06124/92 . 273.475 Ohio Housing Finance Agency ·Single Family Mtg Rev Bonds 12.50 - - - -
06123/92 56.600 Pennsylvania Hghr Ed Faes Autla Adj Convert Extend Sec Bon~s 5.50 - - - ,-_;() 

06/23192 39.410 Ulah Housing Finance Agency Single Family Mtg Rev Bone.ls 20.00 - - - . ·; 

06/23/92 38.S9S Utah Housing Finance Agency Single-Fam Mtg Rev Bonds . 2tUK) 
06/19/92 In t78S Nortb Cntrl Texas Hilb Faes Corp Hospital Revenue Bonds 9.69 - - - .. - ~: 

06/16/92 1500.000 Los Angeles Co-California TRANs 1.10 0.100 - 0.17 0.830;; 
06/15/92 72.375 Washington State Hsg Fin Comm · Single Family Mtg Rev Ref Bds 18.20 
06/15/92 48.995 Washington State Hsg Fin Comm Single Family Mtg Rev Ref Bds 18.20 
06/12192 I07.900 CharBoue-North Carolina Var Rte.Airport Ref Rev Bonds 4.50 

·~ 
06/12192 130.000 Georgia Housing fin Aulh Home Ownership Oppor Prog Bonds 4.70 
06/11/92 2ll6.92S Burke Co Development Authority Adj Tndr Pollution Cnlrl Rev Bds · 4.50 
06/10/92 98.700 Los Angeles Co Transport Commiss Sales Tax Rev Ref Bonds 3.52 - - - .. \ :->.: ;·; ~ 

06/10/92 35.000 Alabama Higher Ed Loan Corp Wkly Adj Rte Student Loan Bds 5 .. 93 
06/09/92 225.100 Virginia H~using Dev Authority Commonwealth Mortgage Bds 0.37 
06/09/92 340.000 Virginia HQusing Dev Autbority Commonwealth Mortgage Bds 0.37 
06/09/92 95.650 Pennsylvania Housing Fin Agency Single Family Mtg Rev Bonds· 1.95 
06/09/92 27.720 Massachusetts Housing Fin Agency Single-Fam Hsg Rev Bonds 2.89 - - 1.89 1.000· 
06/09/92 135.000 Arlingron Sports Faes Dev Autb Sales Tax Rev flt Rte Notes 7.93 
06/04/92 25.207 Sarasota-Florida Water & Sewer Sys Ref Bds 8.45 
06/03/92 136.080 Illinois Housing Dev Authority Residental Mtg Rev Bds 2.48 - - 0.98 1.500 
05ns/92 52.595 Massachusetts Ind Finance Agency Wkly Rte Unit Price Dem Adj Res 4.50 - - - - ... ~~;, -,: ~ 

osns/92 70.135 Louisiana Public Facilities Auth Revenue Bonds n t.5o 2.000 0.50 2.01 6.990. 
05n1/92 - 49.32S St Lucie Co-Florida Pollution Control Rev Ref Bonds 2.63 
o5n7/92 28.300 Jacksonville-Florida IPoBlution Control Rev Ref Bds 3.65 
osn1192 53.000 Houston-Texas Public Bmprovement Bonds I.OS 
05n1192 27.S45 .Jersey City Redevelopment Aulh Multi-Fam Hsg Rev Bonds 9.50 2.000 - 2.5 5.000 
05/20/92 SR.410 Pueblo Co-Colorado SingRe Fmnily Mtg Rev Bonds 5.17 
05/IS/92 44.650 Middlesex Co Utilities AutJa Sewer Rev Ref Bonds 8.90 ~·; { !i " 

05/14/92 34.800 Torrance-California llospitaJ Revenue Bonds 6.32 
05/13/92 75.000 Missouri Housing Dev Commission Single Fmnily Mtg Rev Bonds · 1.os 
05113192 S6.000 University of Michigan Adj Rte Dem Hosp Rev Ref Bonds 1.16 

Source: Securities !Data Company Page3 
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'Negotiated Variablle Rate Issues 
ll992 

Satle Amount Gross Mgmnt Undt!rw Take 
Oat& ($mils) . Issuer Dssue Description Spread Fee F~ Expenses Down 

05/12/92 50.000 Brazos River Harbor Navig Dt Var Rte Dem Rev Bonds 15.00 
05/08/92 50.000 Brazos-Texas Student Loan Rev Bonds 6.50 
05/05192 I09.200 Greater East Texas Hgr Ed Auth Adj Rte Student Loan Rev Bds 8.CK) 
05/04192 90.000 New Jersey Economic Dev Autb Exempt Facility Rev Bonds 5.06 - - - ~ , Ji;-:· .r 
05/01/92 90.000 Rochester-~ innesota Health Care Faes Rev Bonds 8.11 6.tK10 - 0.11 2.000 
04/30/92 26.200 Ohio Housing Fina.nee Agency Single Fmnily Mtg Rev Ref Bds 26.20 - - - 1-: i.,".~ 

04129/92 3:1.000 Monroe Co Economic Dev Corp Wkly Adj Rte Dem Ltd Oblig 3.75 
04124/92 184.000 California Higher Ed Loan Autb Adj Rte Stud Loan Rev Ref Bds 3.20 
04122/92 27.000 NYC Trust for Cultural Resources Weekly Var Rte Rev Bonds 12.33 - - - ';. 

04/16/92 140.000 Nebraska Higher Ed Loan Prog Inc Med-Tenn & Aoat Rae CP Notes 2.50 
04/16/92 38.000 Annslrong Co Hospital Autb Hospital Rev Ref Bonds ICUX) 

04/15/92 28.000 Irvine-California Aparunent Dev Revenue Bonds 6.00 
04/15/92 58.000 Panhandle Plains Higher Ed Auth Var Rte Student Loan Rev Bds 6.27 
04/13/92 29.565 Wyoming Community Dev Authority Single Fam Mtg Bonds 3.64 - - 0.64 3.lX>O 

' 
04/08192 S5.640 Person Co Industrial Fae Fin Au PCR Refunding Bonds 2.00 

" 
04/02/92 S6~000 New Mexico Ed Assist Foundation Student Loan Rev Bonds 7.51 

~ 
03/25/92 81.800 Philadelphia Hosp & Hghr Ed Auth Daily Var Rte Hosp Rev Bonds 4.CK> 
03125/92 50.000 Harris Co Health Faes Dev Corp Wkly Var Rte Hosp Rev Bonds 4.00 
03/20/92 31.320 Lombard-1 llinois Multi-Fwnily Hsg Rev Bonds 7.50 
03/19/92 299.800 District of Columbia GO Var Rate Refunding Bonds 3.10 I .Om - 0.85 ; I .Z50 
03/18/92 57.200 Alabama Housing Fin Authority Wkly Var Rte Single Fam Mtg Rv Be 2.15 0.250 - 0.65 1.250 
03/18/92 27.SOO South St Paul Housing Dev Autb Var Rte Dem Hosp Fae Rev Bonds RO.()() 

03/11/92 165.270 NYS Mortgage Agency Home Owner Mtg Rev Bonds 2.11 0.450 - 0.41 1.250 
03/09/92 202.505 New York-New York General Obligation Bonds 8.63 0.960 - .1.0 6;670 
03/09/92 99.000 New York.:New York General Obligation Bonds 8.63 0.960 - 1.0 6.670 
03/06/92 29.020 Illinois Development Fin Auth Multi-Family Hsg Rev Ref Bds 3.50 
03/03/92 50.000 Texu Water Development Board Muhi-Modal lnterchg Rate Rte Bd 5.50 
02128/92 32.000 Saruoaa Co Health Faes Auth Hospital Revenue Bonds 

" 
10.00 

02126192 S0.000 MobiDe Medical Clinic Board Revenue Bonds 7.00 
02/19192 55.000 Roanoke Industrial Dev Auda Daily Var Rte Hosp Rev Bonds 3.25 
02/13/92 66.390 Tooele Co-Utah Unit Priced Dem Adj Hazard Wste 1.93 - - - - > 
02/B 1192 U9.999 Puerto Rico Hsg Finanee Corp Single Fwnily Mtg Rev Bonds 8.32 ---- " ·- ~· ·~_;,,."•; ...... "--· ·-. ~ .. _ ..... ·, ... 

02/07192 57.000 Illinois Educational Faes Auab Adj Dem Rev Bonds 5.00 
02/06/92 noo.ooo NYS Energy Research & Dev Auth Electric Faes Rev Bonds 2.50 0.700 - 0.8 l .(K)() 

02/03192 29.700 Toledo-Lucas Co Port Authority Var Rte Port Fae Ref Rev Bonds 3.75 

Source: Securities Data Company Page4 
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Ne·gotiated Variable Rate Issues 
1992 

Sale 
Date 

02/03/92 
· 01nJ/92 
01/21/92 
01/16192 
01/01/92 

Amount 
<Smilsl 

44.670· 
25.000 
25.000 
33.500 
78.190 

Issuer-
Courtland Industrial Dev Board 
Musacbuselts Hlth & Ed Faes Au 
Naplles-Florida 
Albuquerque-New Mexico 
University Support Services Inc 

Source: Securities Data Company 

Issue DescrlptJon 

Var Rte Dem lndust Dev Ref.Bonds 
Revenue Bonds 
Hospital Revenue Bonds 
Lodgers Tax Adj Dem Rev Ref BJs 
Education loan Notes 

Gross Mgmnt Und~rw Take 
Spread Fee Fee Expe~ Down 

'6.50 
8.IO 
7.50 
5.00 
8.13 

-

1992 Average Gtross Spread·= S.66 

Pages 
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